

Courant-sharp Robin eigenvalues for the square -the case with small Robin parameter

K Gittins, Bernard Helffer

► To cite this version:

K Gittins, Bernard Helffer. Courant-sharp Robin eigenvalues for the square -the case with small Robin parameter. Annales mathématiques du Québec, In press. hal-02369646

HAL Id: hal-02369646 https://hal.science/hal-02369646

Submitted on 19 Nov 2019

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

Courant-sharp Robin eigenvalues for the square – the case with small Robin parameter–

K. Gittins * and B. Helffer †

March 27, 2019

Abstract

This article is the continuation of our first work on the determination of the cases where there is equality in Courant's Nodal Domain theorem in the case of a Robin boundary condition (with Robin parameter h). For the square, our first paper focused on the case where h is large and extended results that were obtained by Pleijel, Bérard-Helffer, for the problem with a Dirichlet boundary condition. There, we also obtained some general results about the behaviour of the nodal structure (for planar domains) under a small deformation of h, where h is positive and not close to 0. In this second paper, we extend results that were obtained by Helffer–Persson-Sundqvist for the Neumann problem to the case where h > 0 is small.

MSC classification (2010): 35P99, 58J50, 58J37.

Keywords: Courant-sharp, Robin eigenvalues, square.

^{*}Université de Neuchâtel, Institut de Mathématiques, Rue Emile-Argand 11, CH-2000 Neuchâtel. Email: katie.gittins@unine.ch

[†]Laboratoire de Mathématiques Jean Leray, Université de Nantes, 2 rue de la Houssinière, 44 322 Nantes CEDEX 3 - FRANCE. Email: Bernard.Helffer@univ-nantes.fr

Contents

1	Introduction	3
2	The eigenfunctions of the Robin Laplacian for a square	4
	2.1 The 1D case in $\left(-\frac{\pi}{2}, \frac{\pi}{2}\right)$	4
	2.1.1 The case $h \ge 0$	4
	2.1.2 The case $h < 0$	5
	$2.2 2D\text{-case} \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots $	6
	2.3 Particular cases $k = 1, 2, 3, 4, 9$	6
	2.4 Symmetry properties	7
3	Former bounds for the number of Courant-sharp Robin eigen-	
	values of a square	7
	3.1 Lower bound for the Robin counting function	7
	3.2 Upper bound for Courant-sharp Robin eigenvalues of a square	8
	3.3 Recap of Helffer-Persson-Sundqvist for Neumann	8
4	First reductions	9
	4.1 Analysis via small perturbation	9
	4.2 Improvement of Theorem 1.2 as $h \to 0$	10
	4.3 Multiplicity, labelling and application	11
5	On the use of symmetries	12
0	5.1 Antisymmetric eigenvalues	13
	5.2 Symmetric eigenvalues	13
	5.3 Other symmetries	14
	5.4 Reflection in the coordinate axes	15
6	The case (p, p)	16
7	Perturbation theory for nodal domains at the boundary, the	
	case h small	16
	7.1 At the boundary far from the corners	17
	7.2 Analysis at the corner	21
8	Zero critical points at the boundary	22
U	8.1 Analysis at the corner	23
	8.2 Analysis at the boundary outside the corners	23
Q	Application to non Courant-sharp situations	26
0	9.1 Treatment of the special cases in [6] for $h > 0$ small	26
	9.2 Remaining cases	$\frac{23}{27}$
	9.3 Discussion	27
	9.4 Numerical illustration of the case $p = 3$	28
10) The case $(p,q) = (0,2)$	30
11	The case $(p,q) = (7,9)$	34
\mathbf{A}	First Neumann eigenvalues of a square	36

1 Introduction

Consider a bounded, connected, open set $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^m$, $m \geq 2$, with Lipschitz boundary. Let $h \in \mathbb{R}$, $h \geq 0$. We consider the Robin eigenvalues of the Laplacian on Ω with parameter h. That is the values $\lambda_{k,h}(\Omega) \in \mathbb{R}$, $k \in \mathbb{N}$, such that there exists a function $u_k \in H^1(\Omega)$ that satisfies

$$-\Delta u_k(x) = \lambda_{k,h}(\Omega)u_k(x), \quad x \in \Omega,$$

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \nu}u_k(x) + h u_k(x) = 0, \quad x \in \partial\Omega,$$

where ν is the outward-pointing unit normal to $\partial \Omega$.

We recall that the corresponding spectrum is monotonically increasing with respect to h for $h \in [0, +\infty)$, by the minimax principle. In particular, the Robin eigenvalues with h = 0 correspond to the Neumann eigenvalues, $\lambda_k^N(\Omega)$, while those with $h = +\infty$ correspond to the Dirichlet eigenvalues $\lambda_k^D(\Omega)$.

We consider the Courant-sharp Robin eigenvalues of Ω . That is, those Robin eigenvalues $\lambda_{k,h}(\Omega)$ that have a corresponding eigenfunction which has exactly k nodal domains, and hence achieves equality in Courant's Nodal Domain theorem. As for the Dirichlet and Neumann eigenvalues, $\lambda_{1,h}(\Omega)$ and $\lambda_{2,h}(\Omega)$ are Courant-sharp for all $h \geq 0$.

The question that we first considered in [5] is whether it is possible to follow the Courant-sharp (Neumann) eigenvalues with h = 0 to Courant-sharp (Dirichlet) eigenvalues as $h \to +\infty$. There we analysed the situation where h is large. Our aim in this paper is to analyse the case where h is small.

As in [5], we consider the particular example where Ω is a square in \mathbb{R}^2 of side-length π which we denote by S. There, we were able to treat the problem asymptotically as $h \to +\infty$, corresponding to the Dirichlet limit. Moreover, we showed that for h large enough, the only Courant-sharp Robin eigenvalues are for k = 1, 2, 4 (see also [8, 1] where the Dirichlet case was treated):

Theorem 1.1. There exists $h_1 > 0$ such that for $h \ge h_1$, the Courant-sharp cases for the Robin problem are the same as those for $h = +\infty$.

We also obtained the following h-independent result:

Theorem 1.2. Let $h \ge 0$. If $\lambda_{k,h}(S)$ is an eigenvalue of S with $k \ge 520$, then it is not Courant-sharp.

For the square with a Neumann boundary condition, it was shown in [6] that the only Courant-sharp Neumann eigenvalues are for k = 1, 2, 4, 5, 9. Hence it is natural to ask whether this result also holds for $h \ge 0$ small. The goal of this paper is to prove the following theorem which was conjectured in [5].

Theorem 1.3. There exists $h_0 > 0$ such that for $0 < h \le h_0$, the Courantsharp cases for the Robin problem are the same, except the fifth one, as those for h = 0.

In [5], we showed that there exists $h_9^* > 0$ such that $\lambda_{9,h}$ is Courant-sharp for $h \leq h_9^*$ and is not Courant-sharp for $h > h_9^*$.

Here we show that the fifth Robin eigenvalue $\lambda_{5,h}$ is not Courant-sharp for any h > 0. It is interesting that there is stability of the Courant-sharp property under a small perturbation of h large, whereas for h > 0 small there is no stability for k = 5. We remark that we do not give any general information about the Courant-sharp property for the Robin eigenvalues with $h \in (h_0, h_1)$.

We now outline the strategy of the proof of Theorem 1.3. By making use of the fact that h is small, we reduce the number of potential Courant-sharp cases that have to be checked from $k \leq 519$, as in [5], to $k \leq 208$ as in [6] (see Section 4).

The strategy of [6] is then to use symmetry properties of the Neumann eigenfunctions and an argument due to Leydold to further reduce the potential Courant-sharp candidates. Since the Robin eigenfunctions satisfy analogous symmetry properties (see Section 2), corresponding arguments can be applied to the Robin eigenfunctions when h is sufficiently small (see Section 5).

As in [6], there are some eigenvalues for which these symmetry arguments do not allow us to conclude whether or not they are Courant-sharp. In the Robin case, there are also some additional cases that cannot be treated by these symmetry arguments. In order to deal with the remaining cases, we develop some corresponding results to [5] for h small. In particular, under certain hypotheses, we show that for h > 0 small, under a small perturbation of h, the number of nodal domains cannot increase (see Section 7 and Section 8). So if a Neumann eigenvalue is not Courant-sharp, then the corresponding Robin eigenvalue is not Courant-sharp for h sufficiently small. We apply these results in Section 9 to eliminate all but two of the remaining cases.

There are then two outstanding cases for which these arguments do not apply and we have to do a detailed analysis. One of these cases is $\lambda_{5,h}$ as it is Courant-sharp for h = 0 and so the fact that the number of nodal domains does not increase for h small is not sufficient to show that this eigenvalue is not Courant-sharp for h > 0 small. For the other outstanding case, we do not prove that the number of nodal domains is decreasing but we show that this number does not increase too much under a small perturbation of h. These remaining cases are analysed in Section 10 and Section 11.

Acknowledgements:

We are very grateful to Thomas Hoffmann-Ostenhof for useful remarks, to Mikael P. Sundqvist for his communication of figures, and to Alexander Weisse for introducing us to the mathematics software system "SageMath" and helping us to produce some graphs of the Robin eigenvalues of the square. KG acknowledges support from the Max Planck Institute for Mathematics, Bonn, from October 2017 to July 2018. BH acknowledges the support of the Mittag-Leffler Institute, Djursholm, where part of this work has been achieved.

2 The eigenfunctions of the Robin Laplacian for a square

2.1 The 1*D* case in $(-\frac{\pi}{2}, \frac{\pi}{2})$

2.1.1 The case $h \ge 0$

The eigenvalues are determined by the unique solution $\alpha_n(h)$ in $[n\pi, (n+1)\pi)$ of α

$$\alpha \tan \frac{\alpha}{2} = h\ell \,, \tag{2.1}$$

for n even, and the unique solution $\alpha_n(h)$ in $[n\pi, (n+1)\pi)$ of

$$\frac{\alpha}{h\ell} = -\tan\frac{\alpha}{2}\,,\tag{2.2}$$

for n odd.

The corresponding eigenvalue is $\lambda_{n+1}(h) = \frac{\alpha_n(h)^2}{\pi^2}$ and a basis of corresponding eigenfunctions is given for n even by

$$u_{n,h}(x) = \cos\left(\frac{\alpha_n(h)x}{\pi}\right),$$

and for n odd by

$$u_{n,h}(x) = \sin\left(\frac{\alpha_n(h)x}{\pi}\right).$$

Note that

$$\alpha_n(h) \ge \alpha_n(0) \, .$$

Moreover, when h = 0, we have

$$\alpha_n(0) = n\pi \,,$$

and recover the standard basis

$$u_n^{Ne}(x) = \cos(nx)$$
 for n even, and $u_n^{Ne}(x) = \sin(nx)$ for n odd

of the Neumann problem. We recall that the eigenfunctions u_i are alternately symmetric and antisymmetric:

$$u_i(-x) = (-1)^i u_i(x).$$

2.1.2The case h < 0

For h < 0, |h| small enough and $n \ge 1$, there are solutions α_n of (2.1) or (2.2). But for h < 0, the first Robin eigenvalue is negative (see (6) of [4]), so one should also look for energies with a purely imaginary $\alpha = i\beta$ and consider

$$\beta \tanh \frac{\beta}{2} = -h\ell \,. \tag{2.3}$$

The corresponding energy is $-\beta^2$. This gives one additional solution with $\beta > 0$ corresponding to the ground state energy. This solution is unique and, for |h|small enough, is the only negative eigenvalue. The ground state can be defined by

$$u(x) = \cosh\left(\frac{\beta x}{\pi}\right),$$

with β defined by (2.3).

2.2 2*D*-case

For the square $S = (-\frac{\pi}{2}, \frac{\pi}{2})^2$, an orthonormal basis of eigenfunctions for the Robin problem is given by

$$u_{i,j}(x,y) = u_i(x)u_j(y)$$

where, for $n \in \mathbb{N}$, u_n is the (n + 1)-st eigenfunction of the Robin problem in $\left(-\frac{\pi}{2}, \frac{\pi}{2}\right)$. We denote by $\lambda_{i,j}$ the corresponding eigenvalue $\pi^{-2}(\alpha_i^2 + \alpha_j^2)$. Very often, when $i \neq j$, we have to analyse the nodal set of the family

$$\Phi_{\theta,i,j} = \cos\theta \, u_i(x) u_j(y) + \sin\theta \, u_i(y) u_j(x) \,. \tag{2.4}$$

When $\lambda_{i,j}$ has exact multiplicity 2, this family generates all the corresponding eigenspace.

We now observe that the following lemma holds.

Lemma 2.1. Let $h \ge 0$. The number of nodal domains of $\Phi_{\theta,p,q}$ is the same as the number of nodal domains of $\Phi_{\frac{\pi}{2}-\theta,p,q}$. If p+q is odd, the number of nodal domains of $\Phi_{\theta,p,q}$ is the same as the number of nodal domains of $\Phi_{\pi-\theta,p,q}$.

Proof. For the first statement, we observe that

$$\Phi_{\frac{\pi}{2}-\theta,p,q}(x,y) = \Phi_{\theta,p,q}(y,x) = \Phi_{\theta,q,p}(x,y).$$
(2.5)

For the second statement, we can assume, without loss of generality, that p is even and q is odd. Then the statement follows directly from the relation (for any $(x, y) \in (-\frac{\pi}{2}, \frac{\pi}{2})^2$):

$$\Phi_{\pi-\theta,p,q}(x,-y) = \Phi_{\theta,p,q}(x,y).$$
(2.6)

Remark 2.2. When p + q is odd, this allows us to reduce the analysis to $\theta \in [0, \frac{\pi}{4}]$.

In what follows, we consider $h \ge 0$.

2.3 Particular cases k = 1, 2, 3, 4, 9

We recall from [5] that $\lambda_{1,h}$, $\lambda_{2,h}$ and $\lambda_{4,h}$ are Courant-sharp for any $h \in [0, +\infty]$. We have also proved the following proposition in [5].

Proposition 2.3. There exists $h_9^* > 0$ such that $\lambda_{9,h}$ is Courant-sharp for $0 \le h \le h_9^*$ and not Courant-sharp for $h > h_9^*$.

Hence, from this point onwards, we are only interested in the remaining eigenvalues, i.e. in the eigenvalues $\lambda_{n,h}(S)$ with n > 4 and $n \neq 9$. Note that, due to the monotonicity of the Robin eigenvalues with respect to h, we have for $n \geq 4$,

$$\lambda_{n,h}(S) \ge \lambda_{4,h}(S) \ge \lambda_{4,0}(S) = 2.$$

2.4 Symmetry properties

We recall the following symmetry properties of the Robin eigenfunctions from [5, Section 2.3]. As was mentioned in [5], the use of such symmetries was fruitful in the Neumann case, [6], by invoking an argument due to Leydold, [7].

In 2D, we consider the possible symmetries of a general eigenfunction associated with the eigenvalues $\lambda_{n,h}$ which reads,

$$u(x,y) = \sum_{i,j:\lambda_{n,h}(S)=\pi^{-2}(\alpha_i^2 + \alpha_j^2)} a_{ij} \, u_i(x) u_j(y) \,, \tag{2.7}$$

where u_i is the (i + 1)-st eigenfunction of the *h*-Robin problem in $\left(-\frac{\pi}{2}, \frac{\pi}{2}\right)$. By considering the transformation $(x, y) \mapsto (-x, -y)$, we obtain

$$u(-x,-y) = \sum_{i,j:\lambda_{n,h}(S)=\pi^{-2}(\alpha_i^2 + \alpha_j^2)} a_{ij} (-1)^{i+j} u_i(x) u_j(y).$$
(2.8)

Remark 2.4. We note that if (i+j) is odd for any pair (i, j) such that $\lambda_{n,h}(S) = \pi^{-2}(\alpha_i^2 + \alpha_j^2)$, then we get by (2.8), u(-x, -y) = -u(x, y) and as a consequence u has an even number of nodal domains.

3 Former bounds for the number of Courantsharp Robin eigenvalues of a square

In this section, we recall the h-independent bounds from [5] and the corresponding Neumann bounds from [6].

3.1 Lower bound for the Robin counting function

Recall that for $\lambda > 0$, the Robin counting function for the corresponding eigenvalues of Ω is defined as

$$N_{\Omega}^{R,h}(\lambda) := \#\{k \in \mathbb{N} : \lambda_{k,h}(\Omega) < \lambda\}.$$

The Neumann counting function $N_{\Omega}^{Ne}(\lambda)$ corresponds to the case h = 0. We recall that the Robin eigenvalues are monotone with respect to $h \in [0, +\infty)$

When $\Omega = S$, we have

$$\frac{\pi}{4}\lambda + 2\lfloor\sqrt{\lambda}\rfloor + 1 \ge N_S^{Ne}(\lambda) > \frac{\pi}{4}\lambda, \qquad (3.1)$$

and by comparison with the Dirichlet problem, we also have, for $\lambda \geq 2$,

$$N_S^{R,h}(\lambda) > \frac{\pi}{4}\lambda - 2\sqrt{\lambda} + 1.$$
(3.2)

With $\lambda = \lambda_{n,h} > \lambda_{n-1,h}$ and Ψ an associated eigenfunction, (3.2) becomes

$$n > \frac{\pi}{4}\lambda_{n,h} - 2\sqrt{\lambda_{n,h}} + 2.$$
(3.3)

We now work analogously to the proof of Proposition 2.1 in [6] (see also Section 3 of [5]). Denote by Ω^{inn} the union of nodal domains of Ψ whose

boundaries do not touch the boundary of Ω (except at isolated points), and $\mu^{\text{inn}}(\Psi)$ the number of nodal domains of Ψ in Ω^{inn} . Similarly denote by Ω^{out} the nodal domains in $\Omega \setminus \Omega^{\text{inn}}$, and $\mu^{\text{out}}(\Psi)$ the number of nodal domains of Ψ in Ω^{out} . We have that

$$\mu^{\rm inn}(\Psi) = \mu(\Psi) - \mu^{\rm out}(\Psi)$$

and we require an upper bound for $\mu^{\text{out}}(\Psi)$.

In the case, of the square, we have proven the following lemma in [5].

Lemma 3.1. Let λ be a Robin eigenvalue of S with $h < +\infty$. If ψ is a Robin eigenfunction associated to λ , then

$$\mu^{out}(\psi) \le 4\sqrt{\lambda}$$
.

3.2 Upper bound for Courant-sharp Robin eigenvalues of a square

By Lemma 3.1, we have

$$\mu^{\mathrm{inn}}(\Psi) \ge \mu(\Psi) - 4\sqrt{\lambda_{n,h}} \,. \tag{3.4}$$

Now, $\Omega^{\text{inn}} = \bigcup_i \omega_i^{\text{inn}}$ is a finite union of nodal domains for Ψ . Assuming that Ω^{inn} is not empty, we get, on each ω_i^{inn} , by Faber-Krahn (see [8]), that

$$\frac{A(\omega_i^{\text{inn}})}{\pi \mathbf{j}^2} \ge \frac{1}{\lambda_{n,h}} \,, \tag{3.5}$$

where $A(\omega_i^{\text{inn}})$ denotes the area of ω_i^{inn} and **j** denotes the first positive zero of the Bessel function J_0 . Adding, and invoking (3.4), we find

$$\frac{\pi}{\mathbf{j}^2} = \frac{A(S)}{\pi \mathbf{j}^2} > \frac{A(\Omega^{\text{inn}})}{\pi \mathbf{j}^2} \ge \frac{\mu^{\text{inn}}(\Psi)}{\lambda_{n,h}} \ge \frac{\mu(\Psi) - 4\sqrt{\lambda_{n,h}}}{\lambda_{n,h}} \,,$$

from which we extract

$$\frac{\pi}{\mathbf{j}^2} \ge \frac{\mu(\Psi) - 4\sqrt{\lambda_{n,h}}}{\lambda_{n,h}} \,. \tag{3.6}$$

Due to (3.4), this inequality is still true if Ω^{inn} is empty.

So, similarly to [1] and [6, Proposition 2.1], we obtain the following.

Proposition 3.2. Any Courant-sharp Robin eigenvalue $\lambda_{n,h}$ of S has $n \leq 519$.

3.3 Recap of Helffer-Persson-Sundqvist for Neumann

We recall that in the Neumann case, [6], the proof goes as follows. Assume that (λ_n, Ψ_n) is a Courant-sharp eigenpair. Courant's Nodal Domain theorem implies that $\lambda_n > \lambda_{n-1}$ and $N(\lambda_n) = n - 1$. Inserting this into (3.1) (which is specific to Neumann) gives

$$\lambda_n < \frac{4}{\pi}(n-1) \,.$$

Combining this with (3.6), we get

$$n = \mu(\Psi_n) \le \frac{\left|\Omega^{\text{inn}}\right|}{\pi \mathbf{j}^2} \lambda_n + 4\sqrt{\lambda_n} < \frac{4}{\mathbf{j}^2}(n-1) + \frac{8}{\sqrt{\pi}}\sqrt{n-1}.$$

A simple calculation shows that this inequality is false if $n \ge 209$. Hence, in the Neumann case, the analysis of the Courant-sharp situation is reduced to the analysis of the first 208 eigenvalues.

4 First reductions

4.1 Analysis via small perturbation

Here the improvement in comparison with Section 3 will result in a better lower bound for the counting function because we are close to the Neumann situation.

As $h \to 0\,,$ we have the following lemma.

Lemma 4.1. There exist C > 0 and $h_0 > 0$ such that for $h \in (0, h_0]$ and for each pair (i, j), we have

$$\lambda_{i,j}(0) \le \lambda_{i,j}(h) \le \lambda_{i,j}(0) + Ch.$$

$$(4.1)$$

Proof. We come back to the computation of $\lambda_{i,j}$. To treat the case from (2.1), we have to analyse the solutions of $\alpha \tan(\frac{\alpha}{2}) = h\pi$. When h = 0 the solutions are $\alpha_k = 2k\pi$ for $k \in \mathbb{N}$.

If we denote by $\alpha_k(h)$ the solution defined in Section 2, we aim to estimate $\delta_k(h) = \alpha_k(h) - \alpha_k$.

First, for k = 0, we have

$$\delta_0(h) \tan\left(\frac{\delta_0(h)}{2}\right) = h\pi$$
,

which implies the existence of c > 0 such that for h small,

$$\delta_0(h) \le c\sqrt{h} \,.$$

We get immediately

$$\alpha_0(h)^2 \le c^2 h \,.$$

We now assume k > 0. This time we have

$$(2k\pi + \delta_k(h)) \tan\left(\frac{\delta_k(h)}{2}\right) = h\pi$$

Hence there exists $h_0 > 0$ and $c_0 > 0$ such that for any k > 0 and $h \in (0, h_0]$,

$$0 < \delta_k(h) \le c_0 \frac{h}{k}$$
.

This implies the existence of $h_0 > 0$ and $\tilde{c} > 0$ such that for $h \in (0, h_0]$,

$$\alpha_k(0)^2 \le \alpha_k(h)^2 \le \alpha_k(0)^2 + 2\alpha_k(0)\delta_k(h) + \delta_k(h)^2 \le \alpha_k(0)^2 + \tilde{c}h$$

The other cases can be treated in a similar way.

We now have the following lemma.

Lemma 4.2. There exists $h_0 > 0$ and C > 0 such that for any $h \in (0, h_0]$, and $\lambda \ge 2$,

$$N_{S,h}^{R}(\lambda) \ge N_{S,h=0}^{R}(\lambda - Ch) = N_{S}^{Ne}(\lambda - Ch).$$

Indeed, (4.1) implies that for each pair $(i, j) \in \mathbb{N}^2$, we have

$$\lambda_{i,j,h}(S) \le i^2 + j^2 + Ch,$$

for $h \in (0, h_0]$. So, for each (i, j) satisfying $i^2 + j^2 < \lambda - Ch$, we have $\lambda_{i,j,h}(S) < \lambda$.

Finally we have the following lemma.

Lemma 4.3. Let N > 0. Then, there exists $h_0 > 0$ and C > 0 such that for any $0 < n \le N$, $h \in (0, h_0]$,

$$\lambda_{n,h} \le \lambda_{n,0} + Ch.$$

Proof. We give a proof for fixed n. With the notation of (2.7), we consider the set \mathcal{I}_n of the pairs (i, j) such that

$$i^{2} + j^{2} = \pi^{-2}(\alpha_{i}(0)^{2} + \alpha_{j}(0)^{2}) = \lambda_{n,0}$$

By continuity, for h small enough, we have

$$\lambda_n(h) \le \sup_{(i,j)\in\mathcal{I}_n} \lambda_{i,j,h} \,.$$

We can then use Lemma 4.1 to obtain

$$\sup_{(i,j)\in\mathcal{I}_n}\lambda_{i,j,h}\leq\lambda_{n,0}+Ch\,.$$

4.2 Improvement of Theorem 1.2 as $h \rightarrow 0$

If we now come back to the Pleijel-type proof (see Section 3), instead of (3.2) we can use $$\pi$$

$$N_{S,h}^R(\lambda) \ge N_S^{Ne}(\lambda - Ch) > \frac{\pi}{4}(\lambda - Ch).$$

So, assuming that λ is Courant-sharp and following the same steps as above, we first get that

$$n > \frac{\pi}{4}(\lambda - Ch) + 1\,,$$

instead of (3.3). Following what is done in Subsection 3.3, we obtain that there exists \tilde{C} such that

$$n < \frac{4}{\mathbf{j}^2}(n-1) + \frac{8}{\sqrt{\pi}}\sqrt{n-1} + \tilde{C}h.$$

Hence, for h small enough, we get the following proposition as for the Neumann case.

Proposition 4.4. There exists $h_0 > 0$ such that, if $h \in [0, h_0]$ and $\lambda_{n,h}$ is an eigenvalue with $n \ge 209$, then it is not Courant-sharp.

In this way we see that as $h \to 0$, the number of cases to look at is close to the number obtained for the Neumann case (see Proposition 2.1 of [6]). It remains to follow, as $h \to 0$, the other arguments used in [6] to reduce the number of cases to analyse. We do this in Subsection 4.3, Section 5 and Section 6.

4.3 Multiplicity, labelling and application

Following the steps of [6], we now try to eliminate more eigenvalues for n < 209, taking advantage of h small enough. We are now analysing a finite h-independent number of cases, and for each case, we will show the existence of $h_0 > 0$ such that the eigenvalue under consideration is not Courant-sharp for $h \in (0, h_0]$. For the final proof of the main results, we should of course take the infimum of all the h_0 's appearing in the case-by-case analysis.

From (3.4) and using that $\mu^{\text{out}}(\Psi)$ is an integer, we have that the analogous result to Lemma 2.2 of [6] holds in the Robin case.

Summing (3.5) over all inner nodal domains gives that

$$\mu^{\mathrm{inn}}(\Psi) \le \pi \lambda_{n,h}(S)/\mathbf{j}^2$$

so that

$$\mu(\Psi) \le \frac{\pi}{\mathbf{j}^2} \lambda_{n,h}(S) + \mu^{\mathrm{out}}(\Psi).$$

In addition, with

$$j_n(h) := \sup\{q : \alpha_p(h)^2 + \alpha_q(h)^2 = \pi^2 \lambda_{n,h}(S), p, q \in \mathbb{N}\},\$$

the analogous result to Lemma 2.3 of [6] holds in the Courant-sharp situation

$$n = \mu(\Psi) \le \frac{\pi}{\mathbf{j}^2} \lambda_{n,h}(S) + \max(4j_n(h), 1).$$

$$(4.2)$$

We wish to compare the right-hand side of (4.2) to the Neumann situation by using that h is small. We first recall the main result regarding crossings which was proven in [5].

Proposition 4.5. For distinct pairs (p,q) and (p',q'), with $p \leq q$ and $p' \leq q'$, there is at most one value of h in $[0, +\infty)$ such that $\lambda_{p,q,h}(S) = \lambda_{p',q',h}(S)$. Moreover, if $p < p' \leq q' < q$ and $\lambda_{p,q,h^*} = \lambda_{p',q',h^*}$ for some $h^* \geq 0$, then $h \mapsto \pi^{-2}(\alpha_{p'}(h)^2 + \alpha_{q'}(h)^2 - \alpha_p(h)^2 - \alpha_q(h)^2)$ is increasing for $h > h^*$. In particular the curve $h \mapsto \pi^{-2}(\alpha_p(h)^2 + \alpha_q(h)^2)$ is below the curve $h \mapsto \pi^{-2}(\alpha_{p'}(h)^2 + \alpha_{q'}(h)^2)$ for $h > h^*$.

We then have the following lemma.

Lemma 4.6. The multiplicity of $\lambda_{n,h}$ computed for h = 0 can only decay as h increases for h small enough.

Proof. We first show that for h small enough, curves corresponding to $\lambda_{p,q,h}$ with $\lambda_{p,q,0} \neq \lambda_{n,0}$ do not intersect curves corresponding to $\lambda_{n,h}$.

Consider $\lambda_{k,h}$ where $\lambda_{k,0} < \lambda_{n,0}$ and k is largest possible. Then by Lemma 4.3, $\lambda_{k,h} \leq \lambda_{k,0} + Ch < \lambda_{n,0}$ for h small enough.

Similarly, consider $\lambda_{\ell,h}$ where $\lambda_{n,0} < \lambda_{\ell,0}$ and ℓ is smallest possible. Then by Lemma 4.3, $\lambda_{n,h} \leq \lambda_{n,0} + Ch < \lambda_{\ell,0}$ for h small enough.

Hence, we need only consider the curves corresponding to $\lambda_{p,q,h}$ that satisfy $\lambda_{p,q,0} = \lambda_{n,0}$.

It was shown in [6] that for $n \leq 208$, the Neumann eigenvalues of S have multiplicity 1, 2, 3 or 4.

If the multiplicity of $\lambda_{p,q,0}$ is 1 or 2, then it remains constant as h increases (for h small enough). The first case corresponds indeed to p = q and the second case to $p \neq q$.

If the multiplicity of $\lambda_{p,q,0}$ is 3 or 4, then $\lambda_{p,q,0} = \lambda_{p',q',0} = \lambda_{n,0}$ with $p < p' \le q' < q$. The first case corresponds indeed to p' = q' and the second case to p' < q'. By Proposition 4.5, the curves corresponding to (p,q) and (p',q') do not intersect for h > 0, and the curve corresponding to (p,q) is below that corresponding to (p',q'). In this case, the multiplicity decreases.

Remark 4.7. We remark that the above proof also shows that if $\lambda_{n,0}$ has multiplicity 4 such that $\lambda_{p,q,0} = \lambda_{q,p,0} = \lambda_{p',q',0} = \lambda_{q',p',0}$ with p < p' < q' < q, then for h small enough, $\lambda_{p,q,h} = \lambda_{q,p,h} < \lambda_{p',q',h} = \lambda_{q',p',h}$. Similarly, if $\lambda_{n,0}$ has multiplicity 3 such that $\lambda_{p,q,0} = \lambda_{q,p,0} = \lambda_{p',p',0}$ with p < p' < q, then for h small enough, $\lambda_{p,q,h} = \lambda_{q,p,h} < \lambda_{p',p',h}$.

As a consequence of Lemma 4.6, we get the following lemma.

Lemma 4.8. For any N > 0, there exists $h_0 > 0$, such that if $n \le N$, $h \in [0, h_0]$ then

$$j_n(h) \le j_n(0) \, .$$

This immediately leads to the following lemma.

Lemma 4.9. There exists $h_0 > 0$ and C > 0 such that if $n \le 208$, $h \in [0, h_0]$, and $\lambda_{n,h}$ is Courant-sharp then

$$n \le \frac{\pi}{\mathbf{j}^2} \lambda_{n,0}(S) + \max(4j_n(0), 1) + Ch.$$
(4.3)

We can now use the same computations as in Corollary 2.4 of [6] to eliminate, for h small enough, the same cases as for the Neumann problem.

Proposition 4.10. There exists $h_0 > 0$ such that, if $h \in [0, h_0]$ and $\lambda_{n,h}$ is an eigenvalue where n is one of 86, 95–96, 99–100, 103–104, 113, 118–119, 120–121, 128–142, 147–208, then it is not Courant-sharp.

Proof. The numerical calculation performed in [6] shows that

$$\frac{\pi}{\mathbf{j}^2}\lambda_{n,0} + 4j_n(0) < n\,,$$

for the *n* mentioned in the statement, in contradiction with (4.3) for *h* small enough. \Box

5 On the use of symmetries

In this section, we further reduce the potential candidates for Courant-sharp Robin eigenvalues of the square when h is small by using symmetry properties. This leads us to push the argument due to Leydold further as developed in [6].

5.1 Antisymmetric eigenvalues

Similarly to [6], let L^{ARot} denote the Robin Laplacian restricted to the antisymmetric space

$$\mathcal{H}^{\text{ARot}} = \{ \psi \mid \psi(-x, -y) = -\psi(x, y) \}$$

The spectrum of the Robin Laplacian is given by $\pi^{-2}(\alpha_p(h)^2 + \alpha_q(h)^2)$ with p + q odd. We denote the sequence of eigenvalues of L^{ARot} by $(\lambda_{n,h}^{\text{ARot}})_{n=1}^{+\infty}$, counted with multiplicity. Then each antisymmetric $\lambda_{n,h}$ equals $\lambda_{m,h}^{\text{ARot}}$ for some m. The following lemma is an analogue of Courant's Nodal Domain theorem in this subspace, and is proven in [6] for the Neumann case.

Lemma 5.1. Assume that $(\lambda_{n,h}, \Psi_{n,h})$ is an eigenpair of the Robin Laplacian with parameter h, with $\lambda_{n,h}$ antisymmetric, and let m be such that $\lambda_{n,h} = \lambda_{m,h}^{ARot}$. Then $\mu(\Psi_{n,h})$ is even, and

$$\mu(\Psi_{n,h}) \le 2m$$

Proposition 5.2. There exists $h_0 > 0$ such that for $h \in (0, h_0]$, the eigenvalues $\lambda_{7,h} = \lambda_{8,h}, \lambda_{23,h} = \lambda_{24,h}, \lambda_{25,h} = \lambda_{26,h}, \lambda_{29,h} = \lambda_{30,h}, \lambda_{36,h} = \lambda_{37,h}, \lambda_{40,h} = \lambda_{41,h}, \lambda_{51,h} = \lambda_{52,h}, \lambda_{55,h} = \lambda_{56,h}, \lambda_{59,h} = \lambda_{60,h}, \lambda_{61,h} = \lambda_{62,h}, \lambda_{72,h} = \lambda_{73,h}, \lambda_{76,h} = \lambda_{77,h}, \lambda_{91,h} = \lambda_{92,h}, \lambda_{97,h} = \lambda_{98,h}, \lambda_{99,h} = \lambda_{100,h}, \lambda_{103,h} = \lambda_{104,h}, \lambda_{109,h} = \lambda_{110,h}, \lambda_{111,h} = \lambda_{112,h}, \lambda_{120} = \lambda_{121}, \lambda_{124,h} = \lambda_{125,h}, \lambda_{132,h} = \lambda_{133,h}, \lambda_{143,h} = \lambda_{144,h}, and \lambda_{145,h} = \lambda_{146,h}, are not Courant-sharp.$

This was established for h = 0 in [6] by verifying case by case that 2m < n. Note that many cases can be more directly obtained by the following lemma.

Lemma 5.3. Let $0 \le h < +\infty$. Suppose that $\lambda_{n,h}(S)$ is a Robin eigenvalue with corresponding eigenfunction defined in (2.7). Suppose that n is odd and that the conditions of Remark 2.4 are satisfied. Then $\lambda_{n,h}(S)$ is not Courant-sharp.

The property goes through when the eigenvalue has multiplicity 2 for h = 0, see Lemma 4.6. We have to be more careful in the case where the multiplicity is higher.

Let us first look at the perturbation of $\lambda_{23,0} = \lambda_{24,0} = \lambda_{25,0} = \lambda_{26,0}$. By Remark 4.7, for *h* small enough, we have $\lambda_{23,h} = \lambda_{24,h} < \lambda_{25,h} = \lambda_{26,h}$ corresponding to the pairs (5,0), (4,3) respectively. So Lemma 5.3 shows that the eigenvalue cannot be Courant-sharp.

The same argument works for the perturbation of $\lambda_{59,0} = \lambda_{60,0} = \lambda_{61,h} = \lambda_{62,0}$, $\lambda_{109,0} = \lambda_{110,0} = \lambda_{111,0} = \lambda_{112,0}$, $\lambda_{143,0} = \lambda_{144,0} = \lambda_{145,0} = \lambda_{146,0}$.

Let us finally look at the perturbation of $\lambda_{76,0} = \lambda_{77,0} = \lambda_{78,0} = \lambda_{79,0}$. As proven in [6], we have $2 \times 37 < 76$ where $\lambda_{76,0} = \lambda_{37,0}^{ARot}$. By Proposition 4.5 and Remark 4.7, for h small enough we have $\lambda_{76,h} = \lambda_{77,h} < \lambda_{78,h} = \lambda_{79,h}$. We have $\lambda_{76,h} = \lambda_{m,h}^{ARot}$ and $\lambda_{78,h} = \lambda_{m+2,h}^{ARot}$, so $\lambda_{76,h}$ is not Courant-sharp but we cannot conclude for $\lambda_{78,h}$ because 2(m+2) = 78. The same problem occurs for the perturbation of $\lambda_{124,0} = \lambda_{125,0} = \lambda_{126,0} = \lambda_{127,0}$.

5.2 Symmetric eigenvalues

Similarly to [6], let L^{SRot} denote the Robin Laplacian restricted to the symmetric space

$$\mathcal{H}^{\text{SRot}} = \left\{ \psi \mid \psi(-x, -y) = \psi(x, y) \right\}.$$

The spectrum of this Laplacian is given by $\pi^{-2}(\alpha_p(h)^2 + \alpha_q(h)^2)$ with p+q even. We denote the sequence of eigenvalues of L^{SRot} by $(\lambda_{m,h}^{\text{SRot}})_{m=1}^{+\infty}$, counted with multiplicity. Each symmetric $\lambda_{n,h}$ equals $\lambda_{m,h}^{\text{SRot}}$ for some m. The following is an analogue of Courant's Nodal Domain theorem in this subspace, and is proven in [6] for the Neumann case.

Lemma 5.4. Let $(\lambda_{n,h}, \Psi_{n,h})$ be an eigenpair of the Robin Laplacian with parameter h, with symmetric $\lambda_{n,h}$, and let m be such that $\lambda_{n,h} = \lambda_{m,h}^{SRot}$. Then

$$\mu(\Psi_{n,h}) \le 2m$$

Proposition 5.5. There exists $h_0 > 0$ such that for $h \in (0, h_0]$, the eigenvalues $\lambda_{27,h} = \lambda_{28,h}$, $\lambda_{46,h} = \lambda_{47,h}$, $\lambda_{63,h} = \lambda_{64,h}$, $\lambda_{82,h} = \lambda_{83,h}$, $\lambda_{86,h}$, $\lambda_{87,h} = \lambda_{88,h}$, $\lambda_{107,h} = \lambda_{108,h}$, $\lambda_{113,,h}$, $\lambda_{114,h} = \lambda_{115,h}$, and $\lambda_{138,h} = \lambda_{139,h}$ are not Courant-sharp.

Proof. As in the previous proposition, the cases where the multiplicity is 2 follow from what was done in [6] for the Neumann case. We just detail the situation where for h = 0, the multiplicity is larger than 2. In the case of $\lambda_{46,0} = \lambda_{47,0} = \lambda_{48,0}$, we have m = 24.

For h > 0 small enough, we have $\lambda_{46,h} = \lambda_{47,h} < \lambda_{48,h}$ by Remark 4.7 so we cannot conclude for $\lambda_{48,h}$ as $\lambda_{46,0} = \lambda_{22,0}^{SRot}$. This case, will be treated later. In the case, $\lambda_{87,0} = \lambda_{88,0} = \lambda_{89,0} = \lambda_{90,0}$, we have to consider the situation when $\lambda_{87,h} = \lambda_{88,h} < \lambda_{89,h} = \lambda_{90,h}$. We know from [6] that $\lambda_{87,0} = \lambda_{43,0}^{SRot}$ (m = 43). Hence we cannot conclude for $\lambda_{89,h}$ for h > 0. Finally, in the case $\lambda_{114,0} = \lambda_{115,0} = \lambda_{116,0} = \lambda_{117,0}$, we know from [6] that $\lambda_{114,0} = \lambda_{56,0}^{SRot}$ (m = 56) and we cannot conclude for $\lambda_{116,h}$ for h > 0 (Note that $\lambda_{114,h} = \lambda_{115,h} < \lambda_{116,h} = \lambda_{117,h}$).

In comparison with the case h = 0, we have "lost" the treatment of two eigenvalues: $\lambda_{89,h}$ and $\lambda_{116,h}$.

5.3 Other symmetries

Next, similarly to [6], let L^{AMir} denote the Robin Laplacian restricted to the doubly anti-symmetric space

$$\mathcal{H}^{\mathrm{AMir}} = \left\{ \psi \mid \psi(-x,y) = -\psi(x,y), \ \psi(x,-y) = -\psi(x,y) \right\}.$$

The spectrum of this Laplacian is given by $\pi^{-2}(\alpha_p(h)^2 + \alpha_q(h)^2)$ with p and q odd. We denote the sequence of eigenvalues of L^{AMir} by $(\lambda_{m,h}^{\text{AMir}})_{m=1}^{+\infty}$, counted with multiplicity. The following lemma is an analogue of Courant's Nodal Domain theorem in this subspace, and is proven in [6] for the Neumann case.

Lemma 5.6. Assume that $(\lambda_{n,h}, \Psi_{n,h})$ is an eigenpair of the Robin Laplacian with parameter h, with $\lambda_{n,h}$ symmetric and $\Psi_{n,h} \in \mathcal{H}^{AMir}$. Then

$$\mu(\Psi_{n,h}) \le 4m \,,$$

for m such that $\lambda_{n,h} = \lambda_{m,h}^{AMir}$. Moreover, $\mu(\Psi_{n,h})$ is divisible by 4.

Remark 5.7. If, for all pairs (p,q) of non-negative integers such that

$$\pi^{-2}(\alpha_p(h)^2 + \alpha_q(h)^2) = \lambda_{n,h} ,$$

it holds that p and q are odd, then there exists an m such that $\lambda_{n,h} = \lambda_{m,h}^{AMir}$.

Proposition 5.8. The eigenvalues $\lambda_{12,h} = \lambda_{13,h}$, $\lambda_{20,h}$, $\lambda_{27,h} = \lambda_{28,h}$, $\lambda_{32,h} = \lambda_{33,h}$, $\lambda_{46,h} = \lambda_{47,h} < \lambda_{48,h}$, $\lambda_{53,h} = \lambda_{54,h}$, $\lambda_{68,h} = \lambda_{69,h}$, $\lambda_{74,h} = \lambda_{75,h}$, $\lambda_{80,h} = \lambda_{81,h}$, $\lambda_{86,h}$, $\lambda_{95,h} = \lambda_{96,h}$, $\lambda_{107,h} = \lambda_{108,h}$, $\lambda_{114,h} = \lambda_{115,h}$, $\lambda_{128,h} = \lambda_{129,h}$, and $\lambda_{140,h}$ are not Courant-sharp.

Proof. As for the preceding propositions, the only cases where the situation can change in comparison with h = 0 are the cases when the multiplicity is higher than 2.

Looking at $\lambda_{46,0} = \lambda_{47,0} = \lambda_{48,0}$, we have $\lambda_{46,0} = \lambda_{9,0}^{\text{AMir}}$. For h > 0, we have by Proposition 4.5 and Remark 4.7, $\lambda_{46,h} = \lambda_{47,h} < \lambda_{48,h}$. Then $\lambda_{48,h} = \lambda_{11,h}^{\text{AMir}}$ and we are done.

Looking at $\lambda_{114,0} = \lambda_{115,0} = \lambda_{116,0} = \lambda_{117,0}$, we have $\lambda_{114,0} = \lambda_{27,0}^{\text{AMir}}$. For h > 0, we get $\lambda_{116,h} = \lambda_{29,0}^{\text{AMir}}$ and we cannot conclude.

Hence, in comparison with h = 0, we do not know at the moment if the eigenvalue $\lambda_{116,h}$ is Courant-sharp or not for h > 0.

5.4 Reflection in the coordinate axes

In the case where h is sufficiently small and p and q are even, we consider the analogue of Lemma 3.8 from [6]. We recall that $\Phi_{\theta,p,q}$ was introduced in (2.4).

Lemma 5.9. Assume that p and q are even and that the equation $\Phi_{\theta,p,q}(\frac{\pi}{2},y) = 0$ has at least k solutions for $-\frac{\pi}{2} < y < \frac{\pi}{2}$ ($k \ge 0$) and the equation $\Phi_{\theta,p,q}^{\theta}(x,\frac{\pi}{2}) = 0$ has at least ℓ solutions ($\ell \ge 0$) for $-\frac{\pi}{2} < x < \frac{\pi}{2}$. Then

$$\mu(\Phi_{\theta,2p,2q}) \le 4\mu(\Phi_{\theta,p,q}) - (2(k+\ell)+3).$$

Proof. The function $\Phi_{\theta,2p,2q}$ is even in the lines x = 0 and y = 0. For h small enough, we can bound $\mu(\Phi_{\theta,2p,2q})$ from above by $4\mu(\Phi_{\theta,p,q})$. We note that for each zero described in the statement (except the biggest one), we count each nodal domain of $\Phi_{\theta,2p,2q}$ twice. The nodal domain in the middle is subtracted three times if $\Phi_{\theta,p,q}(\frac{\pi}{2}, \frac{\pi}{2}) \neq 0$.

We observe that by Sturm's Theorem (see [2, 9]) we can take $k = \ell = \min\{p,q\}$ in Lemma 5.9 above. We use this observation below.

Proposition 5.10. There exists $h_0 > 0$, such that for $h \in [0, h_0)$, the eigenvalues $\lambda_{38,h} = \lambda_{39,h}$ and $\lambda_{93,h} = \lambda_{94,h}$ are not Courant-sharp.

Proof. For $\lambda_{38,0}$ we have p = 2 and q = 6 and the labelling is preserved for h small enough. Note that $\lambda_{1,3,h=0}$ has the labelling 12. But we have proven just above that $\lambda_{12,h}$ is not Courant-sharp, hence by the above lemma, we get:

$$\mu(\Phi_{\theta,2,6}) \le 4\mu(\Phi_{\theta,1,3}) - (4+3) \le 4 \times 11 - 7 = 32$$

For $\lambda_{93,0}$ we have p = 2 and q = 10 and the labelling is preserved for h small enough. Note that $\lambda_{1,5,0}$ has the labelling 27. But we have proven just above that $\lambda_{27,h}$ is not Courant-sharp, hence by the lemma, we get:

$$\mu(\Phi_{\theta,2,10}) \le 4\mu(\Phi_{\theta,1,5}) - (4+3) \le 4 \times 26 - 7 = 97$$

This is not enough, but if in addition we use Lemma 5.6, we get $\mu(\Phi_{\theta,1,5}) \leq 24$ and

$$\mu(\Phi_{\theta,2,10}) \le 4\mu(\Phi_{\theta,1,5}) - (4+3) \le 4 \times 24 - 7 = 89 < 93.$$

In summary, this leaves open the analysis for h > 0 of the cases $\lambda_{78,h}$, $\lambda_{89,h}$, $\lambda_{116,h}$, and $\lambda_{126,h}$, which were not Courant-sharp for h = 0 and for which the previous arguments fail. We treat $\lambda_{116,h}$ (h > 0) in Section 11. To deal with the three other cases, in Sections 7 and 8, we develop a similar argument to that of [5] but for small h > 0.

6 The case (p, p)

Corresponding to Lemma 4.4 of [6], we have the following proposition.

Proposition 6.1. If the eigenspace corresponding to $\lambda_{p,p,0}$ is one-dimensional then, for h small enough and if Ψ is the eigenfunction associated with $\lambda_{p,p,h}$, we have $\mu(\Psi) = (p+1)^2$.

Proof. The eigenspace is spanned by $\cos(\alpha_p(h)x/\pi) \cos(\alpha_p(h)y/\pi)$ for p even, and by $\sin(\alpha_p(h)x/\pi) \sin(\alpha_p(h)y/\pi)$ for p odd. In each case, this is a product of a function that depends on x and one that depends on y. For h small enough, each of them has p zeros, and thus the number of nodal domains equals $(p+1)^2$.

Observing that the eigenvalues $\lambda_{20,0}$, $\lambda_{31,0}$, $\lambda_{65,0}$, $\lambda_{86,0}$, and $\lambda_{113,0}$ are simple and correspond to p = 3, 4, 6, 7 and 8, we get:

Corollary 6.2. There exists $h_0 > 0$, such that, for $0 < h \le h_0$, the eigenvalues¹ $\lambda_{20,h}$, $\lambda_{31,h}$, $\lambda_{65,h}$, $\lambda_{86,h}$ and $\lambda_{113,h}$, are not Courant-sharp.

We note that for p = 5, the argument does not work for h = 0 because of the multiplicity 3, but could be modified by observing that the eigenvalue becomes simple for h > 0. In any case, this was treated in Proposition 5.8 by another argument. The cases p = 9 and p = 10 were already treated in Proposition 4.10. We recall that in the case p = 2, we have Proposition 2.3.

7 Perturbation theory for nodal domains at the boundary, the case h small

As in [6, 5], we make use of a result due to Leydold, [7], that for a C^{∞} -family of eigenfunctions, the number of nodal domains is constant unless there are stationary points in the interior or the cardinality of the boundary points changes.

¹We have corrected two misprints concerning the labelling in Corollary 4.5 in [6]

In [5], we have shown that the number of nodal domains cannot locally increase around some interior point and at a regular point of the boundary by considering a small perturbation of the Dirichlet case. The proof made use of the Faber-Krahn inequality, hence cannot be applied for h close to zero for the "boundary" nodal domains. Our aim here is to treat a small perturbation of the Neumann case under stronger assumptions, but which could be generic (or satisfied in many cases).

7.1 At the boundary far from the corners

We consider a C^{∞} -family of eigenfunctions $\Phi(x, y, \theta, h)$ depending on θ and $h \in [0, h_0)$, with corresponding eigenvalue $\lambda(h)$, satisfying the *h*-Robin condition. We assume that on one side of the square (say $x = -\frac{\pi}{2}$ to fix the ideas) there is a point $y_0 \in (-\frac{\pi}{2}, \frac{\pi}{2})$ and some $\theta_0 \in [0, \pi]$ such that the following condition is satisfied, for $z_0 = (-\frac{\pi}{2}, y_0)$,

$$\begin{aligned}
\Phi(z_0, \theta_0, 0) &= 0, \\
\partial_y \Phi(z_0, \theta_0, 0) &= 0, \\
\partial_y^2 \Phi(z_0, \theta_0, 0) &\neq 0, \\
\partial_\theta \Phi(z_0, \theta_0, 0) &\neq 0.
\end{aligned}$$
(7.1)

We also assume that there exist positive constants ϵ_1 and η_1 such that in a neighbourhood $B(z_0, \epsilon_1)$ of z_0 , and for $|\theta - \theta_0| + h \leq \eta_1$ in \mathbb{R}^2 , $\Phi(\cdot, \theta, h)$ satisfies;

$$-\Delta\Phi(x, y, \theta, h) = \lambda(h)\Phi(x, y, \theta, h).$$
(7.2)

Our aim is to prove the following proposition

Proposition 7.1. Under Assumptions (7.1) and (7.2), there exist positive constants ϵ_0 and η_0 such that in $B(z_0, \epsilon_0) \cap S$ the number of nodal domains of $\Phi(\cdot, \theta, h)$ is 3 for $(\theta, h) = (\theta_0, 0)$ and is ≤ 3 for $|\theta - \theta_0| + h \leq \eta_0$.

We first give some consequences of (7.1).

We first observe that they imply the following

$$\nabla \Phi(z_0, \theta_0, 0) = 0 \, .$$

Hence, for $(\theta, h) = (\theta_0, 0)$, z_0 is a critical point of $\Phi(\cdot, \theta_0, 0)$ considered as a function on \mathbb{R}^2 .

The second consequence is that by differentiating the Neumann condition tangentially, we obtain that

$$\partial_{x,y}^2 \Phi(z_0,\theta_0,0) = 0$$

Coming back to our assumptions, we can assume (w.l.o.g) that

$$\begin{aligned}
\Phi(z_0, \theta_0, 0) &= 0, \\
\partial_y \Phi(z_0, \theta_0, 0) &= 0, \\
\partial_{yy}^2 \Phi(z_0, \theta_0, 0) &< 0, \\
\partial_\theta \Phi(z_0, \theta_0, 0) &< 0.
\end{aligned}$$
(7.3)

We can indeed always come back to this situation by replacing Φ by $-\Phi$ or θ by $-\theta$.

The third consequence of (7.3) and (7.2) is that

$$\partial_{xx}^2 \Phi(z_0, \theta_0, 0) > 0.$$
(7.4)

Hence, z_0 is a zero critical point of $\Phi(\cdot, \theta_0, 0)$ with non-degenerate Hessian with signature (-, +). It then follows, using (7.2), the local structure of an eigenfunction of the Laplacian in the neighbourhood of z_0 , and the Neumann condition, that there exist positive constants $\epsilon_0 < \epsilon_1$ and $\eta_0 < \eta_1$ such that in $B(z_0, \epsilon_0) \cap S$ the nodal set of $\Phi(\cdot, \theta_0, 0)$ consists of two half-lines emanating from z_0 separated by angle $\frac{\pi}{2}$ and making angle $\frac{\pi}{4}$ with $x = -\frac{\pi}{2}$ and crossing $\partial B(z_0, \epsilon_0) \cap \overline{S}$ transversally at exactly two points z_1 and z_2 in S, see Figure 1.



Figure 1: Two nodal lines emanating from z_0 separated by angle $\frac{\pi}{2}$.

The fourth consequence (that follows from the first and last lines in (7.3)) is that there exists θ_{\pm} such that

$$\begin{aligned} \theta_{-} &< \theta_{0} < \theta_{+} , \\ \Phi(z_{0}, \theta_{-}, 0) > 0 > \Phi(z_{0}, \theta_{+}, 0) , \\ \partial_{\theta} \Phi(z_{0}, \theta, 0) < 0 , & \text{for } \theta \in [\theta_{-}, \theta_{+}] . \end{aligned}$$
(7.5)

We note that these properties are stable. There exist positive (possibly smaller) ϵ_0 and η_0 such that, for $|\theta - \theta_0| + h \leq \eta_0$ the zero set of $\Phi(\cdot, \theta, h)$ is crossing $\partial B(z_0, \epsilon_0) \cap \overline{S}$ transversally at exactly two points $z_1(\theta, h)$ and $z_2(\theta, h)$ in S. Moreover, we have

$$\lim_{(\theta,h)\to(\theta_0,0)} z_j(\theta,h) = z_j \text{ for } j = 1,2.$$

We now apply standard Morse theory for

$$\psi(y,\theta,h):=\Phi(-\frac{\pi}{2},y,\theta,h)\,.$$

This is a Morse function for (θ, h) sufficiently close to $(\theta_0, 0)$ and $\psi(\cdot, \theta, h)$ admits a unique critical point $y(\theta, h)$ close to y_0 :

$$\partial_y \psi(y(\theta, h), \theta, h) = 0.$$

We now look at the behaviour of the function χ which is defined by

$$\chi(heta,h):=\psi(y(heta,h), heta,h)$$
 .

We note that $\partial_{\theta}\chi$ is close to $\partial_{\theta}\psi$ and using the stability of (7.5), we obtain the existence of a (possibly smaller) $\eta_0 > 0$ such that for $0 \le h \le \eta_0$, there exists a unique $\theta(h) \in (\theta_0 - \eta_0, \theta_0 + \eta_0)$ such that

$$\chi(\theta(h), h) = 0$$
 and $\theta(0) = \theta_0$

We now observe that, by construction, $y(\theta(h), h)$ satisfies

$$\partial_y \psi(y(\theta(h)), h), \theta(h), h) = \psi(y(\theta(h), h), \theta(h), h) = 0.$$

We would like to deduce that for $\theta < \theta(h)$, $\psi(y, \theta, h)$ has two zeros $y_{\pm}(\theta, h)$ such that $y_{-}(\theta, h) < y(\theta, h) < y_{+}(\theta, h)$ and that, for $\theta > \theta(h)$, $\psi(y, \theta, h)$ has no zero. Using the Taylor expansion with integral remainder term, we can write

$$\psi(y,\theta,h) - \chi(\theta,h) = c(y,\theta,h)(y-y(\theta,h))^2.$$

where $c(y_0, \theta_0, 0) < 0$. We make the change of variable:

$$y\mapsto \tilde{y}=\sqrt{-c(y,\theta,h)}(y-y(\theta,h))$$

and denote by $\tilde{y} \mapsto y = \zeta(\tilde{y}, \theta, h)$ its inverse map. If y is a zero of ψ , we obtain:

$$\chi(\theta, h) = \tilde{y}^2 \,,$$

Hence, if $\chi(\theta, h) \ge 0$, we have two solutions

$$\tilde{y}_{\pm} = \pm \sqrt{\chi(\theta, h)}$$
.

Coming back to the initial coordinates, we get

$$y_{\pm}(\theta,h) = y(\theta,h) \pm \frac{\sqrt{\chi(\theta,h)}}{\sqrt{-c(\zeta(\tilde{y}_{\pm},\theta,h),\theta,h)}} \,.$$

Using the Robin condition, we also obtain that

$$\partial_x \Phi(-\pi/2, y(\theta(h), h), \theta(h), h) = h \Phi(-\pi/2, y(\theta(h), h), \theta(h), h)$$

= $h(\psi(y(\theta(h), h), \theta(h), h) = 0.$

Hence, for h small enough,

$$z_c(h) := (-\pi/2, y(\theta(h), h))$$

is a zero critical point of $\Phi(\cdot, \theta(h), h)$.

At this stage, we have achieved the analysis of the intersection of the zero set at the boundary where we have distinguished three situations depending on $\theta - \theta(h)$: the intersection consists of two points, one double point and no point in a fixed neighbourhood of z_0 in the boundary $(y_0 - \epsilon_0, y_0 + \epsilon_0)$.

In order to control the topology of the nodal set in $B(z_0, \epsilon_0) \cap \overline{S}$, we now analyse if $\Phi(\cdot, \theta, h)$ can have critical points in $S \cap B(z_0, \epsilon_0)$.

As a function of (x, y), $\Phi(\cdot, \theta, h)$ is a Morse function for (θ, h) close to $(\theta_0, 0)$. Hence, there exists a unique critical point $\hat{z}(\theta, h)$ close to z_0 . Let us show that if it is a zero critical point it has to be on the boundary. If there was such a zero critical point, we would have, using the Taylor expansion of $\Phi(z, \theta, h)$ at $\hat{z}(\theta, h)$ and taking $z = \tilde{z}(\theta, h) := (-\frac{\pi}{2}, y(\theta, h))$,

$$0 = \Phi(\hat{z}(\theta, h), \theta, h) = \Phi(\check{z}(\theta, h), \theta, h) + \mathcal{O}(|\hat{z}(\theta, h) - \check{z}(\theta, h)|^2).$$

We now observe that

$$\check{z}(\theta(h),h) = \hat{z}(\theta(h),h) = z_c(h)$$

by uniqueness of the critical point, hence

$$\hat{z}(\theta, h) - \check{z}(\theta, h) = \mathcal{O}(|\theta - \theta(h)|).$$

This implies

$$0 = \Phi(\check{z}(\theta, h), \theta, h) + \mathcal{O}(|\theta - \theta(h)|^2).$$

We now take the Taylor expansion of $\Phi(\check{z}(\theta, h), \theta, h)$ at $\theta = \theta(h)$ to obtain

$$\Phi(\check{z}(\theta,h),\theta,h) = \partial_{\theta} \Phi(\check{z}(\theta(h),h),\theta(h),h)(\theta-\theta(h)) + \mathcal{O}(|\theta-\theta(h)|^2).$$

Altogether, we have

$$\partial_{\theta} \Phi(\check{z}(\theta(h), h), \theta(h), h)(\theta - \theta(h)) = \mathcal{O}(|\theta - \theta(h)^2)$$

whose unique solution is $\theta = \theta(h)$, observing that $\partial_{\theta} \Phi(\check{z}(\theta(h), h), \theta(h), h) \neq 0$. We conclude that $\check{z}(\theta(h), h) = \hat{z}(\theta(h), h) = z_c(h) \in \partial S$ is the only possibility.

We now look at the topology of the nodal set in $\overline{S} \cap \overline{B}(z_0, \epsilon_0)$. If $\theta > \theta(h)$, we have no point at the boundary and the only possibility (having in mind that we have no zero critical point) is an arc inside S joining $z_1(\theta, h)$ and $z_2(h, \theta)$. In this case, we have two nodal sets in $\overline{S} \cap \overline{B}(z_0, \epsilon_0)$.

If $\theta = \theta(h)$ the only possibility is that the nodal set consists of two arcs joining $z_j(\theta, h)$ (j = 1, 2) and $\check{z}(\theta(h), h)$ at the boundary. In this case, we have three nodal sets.

Finally if $\theta < \theta(h)$, we can exclude the possibility that there is one arc joining $y_{-}(\theta, h)$ and $y_{+}(\theta, h)$ and another joining $z_{1}(\theta, h)$ and $z_{2}(h, \theta)$. Of course they cannot intersect because this would create a critical point. We observe that

$$\Phi(\check{z}(\theta,h),\theta,h) > 0.$$

Now we have for $x \ge -\frac{\pi}{2}$, taking the Taylor expansion of order 2 at the point $-\frac{\pi}{2}$ in the first variable,

$$\Phi(x, y(\theta, h), \theta, h) = \Phi(\check{z}(\theta, h), \theta, h) + \partial_x \Phi(\check{z}(\theta, h), \theta, h)(x + \frac{\pi}{2}) + d(x, \theta, h)(x + \frac{\pi}{2})^2,$$

with $d(-\frac{\pi}{2}, \theta_0, 0) = \partial_{xx} \Phi(-\frac{\pi}{2}, y_0, \theta_0, 0) > 0$ (by (7.4)).

Using again the Robin condition and the non-negativity of h, we observe that

$$\partial_x \Phi(\check{z}(\theta, h), \theta, h) = h \Phi(\check{z}(\theta, h), \theta, h) \ge 0.$$

Hence the nodal set for $h \ge 0$ does not meet the horizontal segment $y = y(\theta, h)$ in $B(z_0, \epsilon_0)$. The only remaining possibility is consequently that the nodal set consists of two non-intersecting arcs connecting two points of the boundary to two points of $\partial B(z_0, \epsilon_0) \cap S$ determining three nodal sets. This achieves the proof of the proposition.

It remains to understand what can occur at the corners.

7.2 Analysis at the corner

We begin with the Neumann case and we work in $\hat{S} := (0, \pi)^2$ because on \hat{S} there is a unique expression for the eigenfunctions (this allows us to avoid a discussion of four different cases below).

We are interested in the families (for say p < q)

$$\Phi(x, y, \theta, 0) = \cos \theta \cos px \cos qy + \sin \theta \cos py \cos qx.$$

We look at the situation at the corner (0,0). The first question is to know if there is a zero. We observe that

$$\Phi(0,0,\theta) = (\cos\theta + \sin\theta).$$

Hence the only case is for $\theta_0 = \frac{3\pi}{4}$.

If we look at other corners we only meet the same θ or $\theta = \frac{\pi}{4}$ depending on the parities of p and q. Due to the Neumann condition, the corner $z_0 = (0, 0)$ is a critical point. Looking at the second derivative, we observe that

$$\partial_{xx}^2 \Phi(0,0,\theta_0,0) = \cos \theta_0(-p^2) + \sin \theta_0(-q^2) = \cos \theta_0(q^2 - p^2) < 0.$$

Similarly

$$\partial_{yy}^2 \Phi(0,0,\theta_0,0) = -\cos\theta_0(q^2 - p^2) > 0$$

with opposite sign, and

$$\partial_{xy}^2 \Phi(0,0,\theta_0,0) = 0.$$

The zero set for $\theta = \theta_0$ is simply x = y. Finally, we note that

$$\partial_{\theta} \Phi(0,0,\theta_0) = 2\cos\theta_0 < 0$$
.

The guess is simply that this situation is stable for (θ, h) close to $(\theta_0, 0)$.

Coming back to S and supposing that p and q are even to fix the ideas $(p = 2\hat{p} \text{ and } q = 2\hat{q})$, we focus on $z_0 = (-\frac{\pi}{2}, -\frac{\pi}{2})$. The family we are interested in is

$$\Phi_{p,q}(x,y,\theta,h) := \cos\theta \cos(\alpha_p x/\pi) \cos(\alpha_q y/\pi) + \sin\theta \cos(\alpha_p y/\pi) \cos(\alpha_q x/\pi)$$

and we have

$$\Phi_{p,q}(-\pi/2, -\pi/2, \theta, h) := (\cos\theta + \sin\theta)\cos(\alpha_p/2)\cos(\alpha_q/2)$$

with

$$\cos(\alpha_p/2)\cos(\alpha_q/2) = (-1)^{\hat{p}+\hat{q}} + \mathcal{O}(h) \neq 0.$$

The other cases are similar.

Hence, we consider a C^{∞} -family of eigenfunctions $\Phi(x, y, \theta, h)$ depending on θ and $h \in [0, h_0)$, with corresponding eigenvalue $\lambda(h)$, satisfying the *h*-Robin condition and assume that at a corner $z_0 = (x_0, x_0)$, we have for some θ_0 and $h_0 > 0$

$$\begin{aligned}
\Phi(x, x, \theta_0, h) &= 0, \forall h \in [0, h_0] \\
\nabla \Phi(z_0, \theta_0, h) &= 0, \forall h \in [0, h_0] \\
\partial_y^2 \Phi(z_0, \theta_0, 0) &\neq 0, \\
\partial_\theta \Phi(z_0, \theta_0, 0) &\neq 0.
\end{aligned}$$
(7.6)

We also assume that there exist positive constants ϵ_1 and η_1 such that in a neighbourhood $B(z_0, \epsilon_1)$ of z_0 and for $|\theta - \theta_0| + h \leq \eta_1$ in \mathbb{R}^2 , $\Phi(\cdot, \theta, h)$ satisfies;

$$-\Delta\Phi(x, y, \theta, h) = \lambda(h)\Phi(x, y, \theta, h).$$
(7.7)

If we are at a corner of the form $(x_0, -x_0)$, we are in a similar situation with the diagonal y = x replaced by the diagonal y = -x.

Our aim is to prove the following proposition

Proposition 7.2. Under Assumptions (7.6) and (7.7), there exist positive constants ϵ_0 and η_0 such that in $B(z_0, \epsilon_0) \cap S$ the number of nodal domains of $\Phi(\cdot, \theta, h)$ is 2 for $|\theta - \theta_0| + h \leq \eta_0$.

The proof is rather close to that of the previous subsection, except that we have the additional information that $\theta(h) = \theta_0$ for each side. The intersection of the nodal set with the boundary is a point $z(\theta, h)$ which moves from one side to the next side. By assumption $z(\theta_0, h)$ is the unique critical point of $\Phi(\cdot, \theta_0, h)$ and $z(\theta_0, h) = z_0$.

The second step is to show that the only zero critical point is for $\theta = \theta_0$ and at the corner. We suppose that $\hat{z}(\theta, h)$ is a zero critical point of $\Phi(\cdot, \theta, h)$ and as in the previous subsection we get

$$0 = \Phi(\hat{z}(\theta, h), \theta, h) = \Phi(z(\theta, h), \theta, h) + \mathcal{O}(|\hat{z}(\theta, h) - z(\theta, h)|^2).$$

By uniqueness of the critical point, we have

$$\hat{z}(\theta, h) - z(\theta, h) = \mathcal{O}(|\theta - \theta_0|).$$

On the other hand we have

$$\Phi(z(\theta,h),\theta,h) = \partial_{\theta} \Phi(z_0,\theta_0,h)(\theta-\theta_0) + \mathcal{O}(|\theta-\theta_0|)^2).$$

Using $\partial_{\theta} \Phi(z_0, \theta_0, 0) \neq 0$, we get $\theta = \theta_0$ and that the critical point should be for θ_0 and equal to z_0 .

The last step is easier, we can only have a curve joining the corner and the unique point on $\partial B(z_0, \epsilon_0) \cap S$ which is actually quite close to the diagonal.

8 Zero critical points at the boundary

Note that in this section, the eigenfunctions are written on $\hat{S} := (0, \pi)^2$. The advantage is that we have a unique expression for the eigenfunctions in the case h = 0. Since the case where p = q was already treated in Section 6, we assume that $p \neq q$ in what follows.

8.1 Analysis at the corner

We are only interested in families of eigenfunctions for the Neumann case in the form

 $\Phi_{p,q}(x, y, \theta) = \cos \theta \cos px \cos qy + \sin \theta \cos py \cos qx.$

It is not difficult to show that the corners (0,0) and (π,π) only belong to the nodal set when $\cos \theta + \sin \theta = 0$, hence for $\theta = \frac{3\pi}{4}$. For the corners $(0,\pi)$ and $(\pi,0)$, we get $\cos \theta + \sin \theta (-1)^{p+q} = 0$ which leads to $\theta = \frac{\pi}{4}$ or $\frac{3\pi}{4}$ depending on the parity of p + q.

In each case, we observe that the diagonal arriving at the corner belongs to the zero set. For h > 0, we observe that the same corners are zeros and critical for the same value of $\theta \in \{\frac{\pi}{4}, \frac{3\pi}{4}\}$.

In order to apply Proposition 7.2, we have that equation (7.6) holds since we consider the Robin eigenfunctions and the first two conditions of (7.7) are satisfied, as observed above. It remains to verify whether the third and fourth conditions of (7.7) are satisfied. We discuss this at the end of Subsection 8.2.

8.2 Analysis at the boundary outside the corners

The zero critical points of $z \mapsto \Phi_{p,q}(z,\theta)$ are determined by

 $\cos \theta \cos px \cos qy + \sin \theta \cos py \cos qx = 0,$ $p \cos \theta \sin px \cos qy + q \sin \theta \cos py \sin qx = 0,$ and $q \cos \theta \cos px \sin qy + p \sin \theta \sin py \cos qx = 0.$

On $\hat{S} = (0, \pi)^2$, by the analogous results to (2.5) and (2.6), it suffices to consider the boundary edge x = 0. If we are on the side x = 0, outside the corner, then, for $y \in (0, \pi)$, we get

> $\cos\theta\cos qy + \sin\theta\cos py = 0,$ $q\cos\theta\sin qy + p\sin\theta\sin py = 0.$

Remark 8.1. We note that, for a zero critical point (0, y) at the boundary $\{x = 0\}$, we have necessarily $\theta \neq 0$ and $\theta \neq \frac{\pi}{2}$ and that $\cos py = 0$ if and only if $\cos qy = 0$.

If

$$\cos py \, \cos qy \neq 0 \,, \tag{8.1}$$

we get

$$\tan \theta = -\cos py / \cos qy \,,$$
$$q \tan qy = p \tan py \,.$$

We first consider the particular cases (0, q) or (p, 0) (with p > 1 or q > 1). In this case the above condition (8.1) is satisfied and we get

Lemma 8.2.

1. If p = 0 and q > 1, we have $y = k\frac{\pi}{q}$ for some $k \in \{1, \ldots, q-1\}$ and $\tan \theta = (-1)^{k+1}$.

2. If p > 1 and q = 0, we have $y = k\frac{\pi}{p}$ for some $k \in \{1, ..., p-1\}$ and $\tan \theta = (-1)^{k+1}$.

Moreover this critical point is non-degenerate and satisfies the assumptions of Proposition 7.1.

Proof. It is not difficult to check that the critical point is non-degenerate so we only detail the last statement. Note that we have $\theta \in \{\frac{\pi}{4}, \frac{3\pi}{4}\}$.

In the first case, we just observe that at the critical point $(0, k\frac{\pi}{q})$, we have

$$|\partial_{yy}^2 \Phi_{0,q}(0, k\frac{\pi}{q})| = q^2/\sqrt{2} \neq 0.$$

The other condition reads

$$\partial_{\theta} \Phi_{0,q}(0, k\frac{\pi}{q}) = \sin \theta (-1)^{k+1} + \cos \theta = 2\sin \theta (-1)^k \neq 0.$$

(Note that k even corresponds to $\theta = \frac{3\pi}{4}$ and k odd corresponds to $\theta = \frac{\pi}{4}$.) \Box

We now consider the case when $pq \neq 0$, $p \neq q$.

Analysis of (8.1)

We first assume that p and q are mutually prime. Let us consider a solution of $\cos py = 0$ and $\cos qy = 0$ with $y \in (0, \pi)$. From the assumptions we get that

$$y = \frac{(2m+1)\pi}{2p} = \frac{(2n+1)\pi}{2q}, \qquad (8.2)$$

where m and n are non-negative integers, satisfying

$$(2m+1) < 2p \text{ and } (2n+1) < 2q.$$
 (8.3)

(8.2) implies

$$(2m+1)q = (2n+1)p$$
.

Since p and q are mutually prime, this implies the existence of a positive integer ℓ such that

$$(2m+1) = \ell p \,.$$

This would imply, by (8.3), $\ell = 1$ and p = (2m + 1) and q = (2n + 1) and p + q even.

Hence neither $\cos py = 0$ nor $\cos qy = 0$ can occur if p+q is odd (see Remark 8.1).

Lemma 8.3. If p and q are mutually prime and p+q is odd, then we can apply Proposition 7.1 on the boundary x = 0 away from the corners.

Proof. Because $\cos qy \cos py \neq 0$, the critical points on the boundary x = 0 are critical points of the function

$$y \mapsto f_{p,q}(y) = \frac{\cos py}{\cos qy}.$$

We do not need to discuss the localisation or the existence of these zero critical points, but we have only to verify if the assumptions of Proposition 7.1 are satisfied at such a point.

The Hessian is given by

$$\operatorname{Hessian}(\Phi_{p,q}) = \begin{pmatrix} \cos py \sin \theta (p^2 - q^2) & 0\\ 0 & \cos py \sin \theta (q^2 - p^2) \end{pmatrix}$$

Hence this Hessian is non-degenerate because $p \neq q$ and $\theta \neq 0, \frac{\pi}{2}$. We also have that

$$\partial_{\theta} \Phi_{p,q}(0,y) = -\sin\theta\cos qy + \cos\theta\cos py$$

and, since (0, y) belongs to the nodal set, that

$$\cos qy = -\frac{\sin\theta\cos py}{\cos\theta} \,.$$

Hence we obtain

$$\partial_{\theta} \Phi_{p,q}(0,y) = \frac{\cos py}{\cos \theta} \neq 0.$$

So Proposition 7.1 can be applied when p, q are mutually prime and p + q is odd.

Remark 8.4. Suppose p and q are mutually prime, p + q is even and (0, y) is a critical point. If $\cos py \neq 0$, then, by Remark 8.1, $\cos qy \neq 0$ and so Proposition 7.1 applies (as in the proof of Lemma 8.3).

If $\cos py = 0$, then, by Remark 8.1, $\cos qy = 0$. As above we have p = 2m+1, q = 2n+1 and $y = \frac{\pi}{2}$. We have that $\partial_{\theta} \Phi_{p,q}(0, \frac{\pi}{2}) = 0$ if and only if

$$\tan \theta = \frac{q}{p}(-1)^{m+n-1}$$

Hence for $\theta \neq \arctan(\frac{q}{p}(-1)^{m+n-1})$, Proposition 7.1 can be applied. The remaining case $\theta = \arctan(\frac{q}{p}(-1)^{m+n-1})$ must be checked.

When p and q are not prime, we will see how we can reduce to this situation by looking at sub-squares. Indeed, in order to check whether conditions (7.1) and the third and fourth conditions of (7.7) are satisfied, we need only consider h = 0 for which the folding argument used in [6] holds. More precisely, suppose that $p = k\tilde{p}$ and $q = k\tilde{q}$ with \tilde{p} and \tilde{q} mutually prime and $\tilde{p} + \tilde{q}$ odd. dividing $(0, \pi)^2$ into k^2 sub-squares, we can investigate whether the corners of

dividing $(0, \pi)^2$ into k^2 sub-squares, we can investigate whether the corners of these sub-squares lying in x = 0 are in the zero set of $\Phi_{p,q}(\cdot, \theta)$ or not. We have indeed at a point $(0, \frac{\ell \pi}{k})$,

$$\Phi_{p,q}(0,\ell\pi/k,\theta) = \cos\theta\cos\ell\tilde{q}\pi + \sin\theta\cos\ell\tilde{p}\pi = (\cos\theta - \sin\theta)(-1)^{\ell q}.$$

So we have a special case (that the point belongs to the nodal set) when $\theta = \frac{\pi}{4}$.

We now perform the change of variable $y \mapsto \frac{1}{k}\tilde{y} + \frac{\ell\pi}{k}$. In this new coordinate, we have, for $y \in (\frac{\ell\pi}{k}, \frac{(\ell+1)\pi}{k})$

$$\Phi_{p,q}(0,y) = \cos\theta\cos(\ell\tilde{q}\pi + \tilde{q}y) + \sin\theta\cos(\ell\tilde{p}\pi + \tilde{p}y) = (-1)^{\ell\tilde{q}}(\cos\theta\cos(\tilde{q}y) - \sin\theta\cos(\tilde{p}y)).$$

We are again as in the previous case in the new variables (\tilde{x}, \tilde{y}) except that the left corners of the sub-squares (which could be zeros when $\theta = \frac{\pi}{4}$) are interior points of the boundary of the initial square. But the analysis there is not difficult and has already been discussed above. Hence we can generalise the previous lemma in the following way:

Lemma 8.5. If $p = k\tilde{p}$ and $q = k\tilde{q}$ with $k \ge 1$, \tilde{p} and \tilde{q} mutually prime and $\tilde{p} + \tilde{q}$ odd, then we can apply Proposition 7.1 on the boundary x = 0.

Remark 8.6. We remark that by the above, if p and q are mutually prime with p+q odd, then the third and fourth conditions of (7.7) are satisfied, and hence Proposition 7.2 can be applied. If p and q are mutually prime with p+q even, then the case $\theta = \arctan(\frac{q}{p}(-1)^{m+n-1})$ has to be checked by another approach, otherwise Proposition 7.2 can be applied.

9 Application to non Courant-sharp situations

It is immediate to see that, due to the monotonicity of the Robin eigenvalues with respect to h, the labelling of an eigenvalue corresponding to the pair (p,q) can only increase when going from h = 0 to h > 0.

Hence, starting with a Neumann eigenvalue that is not Courant-sharp, in order to show that the corresponding Robin eigenvalue with h sufficiently small is not Courant-sharp, it is enough to show that the number of nodal domains does not increase as h (small) increases.

We now list the remaining cases, where the arguments of the previous subsections apply.

9.1 Treatment of the special cases in [6] for h > 0 small

In [6], there were certain Neumann eigenvalues for which the Courant-sharp property could not be determined by the Pleijel-inspired strategy or by symmetry arguments. To show that these eigenvalues are not Courant-sharp, a more in-depth analysis was required. Below we consider these special cases and apply the results of Section 8, together with the result for h = 0 of [6], to show that the corresponding Robin eigenvalues are not Courant-sharp for h small enough.

- 1. The case $\lambda_7 = \lambda_8 = 5$ ((p,q) = (2,1))Because p and q are mutually prime and p + q is odd, the general theory of Section 8 applies.
- 2. The case $\lambda_{21} = \lambda_{22} = 20$ ((p,q) = (4,2))By dividing into four sub-squares, we obtain four copies of the previous situation. So the results of Section 8 apply.
- 3. The case $\lambda_{70} = \lambda_{71} = 80$ ((p,q) = (8,4))Similarly, by dividing into sixteen sub-squares, we come back to the situation of item 1.
- 4. The case $\lambda_{42} = \lambda_{43} = 45$ ((p,q) = (6,3)) By dividing into nine sub-squares, we come back to the situation of item 1.

- 5. The case $\lambda_{14} = \lambda_{15} = 13$ ((p,q) = (3,2))Because p and q are mutually prime and (p+q) is odd, the general theory of Section 8 applies.
- 6. The case $\lambda_{49} = \lambda_{50} = 52$ ((p,q) = (6,4))We can come back to the previous situation by dividing into four subsquares.
- 7. The case $\lambda_{18} = \lambda_{19} = 17$ ((p,q) = (4,1))Because p and q are mutually prime and p + q is odd, the general theory of Section 8 applies.
- 8. The case $\lambda_{66} = \lambda_{67} = 73$ ((p,q) = (8,3))Because p and q are mutually prime and p + q is odd, the general theory of Section 8 applies.
- 9. The case $\lambda_{84} = \lambda_{85} = 97$ ((p,q) = (9,4)). Because p and q are mutually prime and p + q is odd, the general theory of Section 8 applies.
- 10. The case $\lambda_{101} = \lambda_{102} = 116$ ((p,q) = (10,4)). By dividing into four subsquares, we come back to the analysis of (5,2). Observing that 5+2=7 is odd and that 2 and 5 are mutually prime, the general theory of Section 8 applies (see also Proposition 5.2).

9.2 Remaining cases

In Section 5, there were four cases for which we could not determine whether the Courant-sharp property holds. This is due to the fact their multiplicity is larger than 2 for h = 0. Three of these cases can be treated by the general theory of Section 8 as we see below.

- 11. The case $\lambda_{78,h} = \lambda_{79,h}$ (h > 0) corresponding to (p,q) = (6,7). Because p and q are mutually prime and p+q is odd, the general theory of Section 8 applies.
- 12. The case $\lambda_{126,h} = \lambda_{127,h} (h > 0)$ corresponding to (8,9). Hence p and q are mutually prime, p + q is odd, and the general theory of Section 8 applies.
- 13. The case $\lambda_{89,h} = \lambda_{90,h}$ (h > 0) corresponding to (6, 8) By dividing into four sub-squares, we come back to the analysis of (3, 4) which can be treated observing that 3 and 4 are mutually prime and that 3 + 4 is odd (see also Proposition 5.2).

In all these cases, the multiplicity becomes 2 for h > 0.

9.3 Discussion

We can treat the cases (0, p) for p > 2 by invoking Lemma 8.2 and the results of [6] that the Neumann eigenvalues corresponding to these pairs are not Courant-sharp. The case (0, 1) was already discussed in Subsection 2.3.

We also recall that we have completely analysed the cases (p, p) for $p \ge 1$ in Section 6.

In conclusion, in order to achieve the proof of Theorem 1.3, it remains to analyse the following two cases:

- The case (0, 2) where our previous analysis does not permit us to exclude a possible Courant-sharp situation for h > 0.
- The case (p,q) = (7,9) where p and q are mutually prime but p+q is even.

For the latter, some special analysis has to be done for $\tan \theta = \frac{7}{9}$.

9.4 Numerical illustration of the case p = 3

We now illustrate and give a more detailed analysis of the typical case (0, p) in the odd situation: p = 3. We recall that it was shown in [6] that the Neumann eigenvalue $\lambda_{10,0}$ corresponding to the pair (0,3) is not Courant-sharp. We set

$$\Phi_{0,3}(x, y, \theta, h) := \Phi_{h,\theta,0,3}(x, y),$$

for $(x, y) \in (0, \frac{\pi}{2})^2$. Following the steps of the (0, p) analysis, we see that the critical points only occur when $\theta = \frac{\pi}{4}, \frac{3\pi}{4}$. Below we plot $\Phi_{h,\theta,0,3}(x, y)$ for various values of θ .



Figure 2: The eigenfunction $\Phi_{h,\theta,0,3}(x,y)$ when h = 0 for $\theta = 0$ (blue), $\theta = \frac{\pi}{4}$ (magenta), $\theta = \frac{\pi}{2}$ (red) and $\theta = \frac{3\pi}{4}$ (navy).

From Figure 2, we see that $\Phi_{h,\theta,0,3}(x,y)$ has 4 nodal domains except for the cases $\theta = \frac{\pi}{4}, \frac{3\pi}{4}$ when it has 8 nodal domains.

For h sufficiently small, we have to concentrate on values of θ close to $\frac{\pi}{4}$ and to look at what happens in the neighbourhood of the boundary critical points.

By Remark 2.4, since p = 3 is odd, it is sufficient to consider $\theta = \frac{\pi}{4}$. For the Neumann case with $\theta = \frac{\pi}{4}$, the critical points on the boundary are $(\frac{\pi}{2}, -\frac{\pi}{2})$, $(-\frac{\pi}{2}, \frac{\pi}{2}), (\frac{\pi}{6}, \frac{\pi}{2}), (\frac{\pi}{2}, \frac{\pi}{6}), (-\frac{\pi}{2}, -\frac{\pi}{6}), (-\frac{\pi}{6}, -\frac{\pi}{2})$. On the side $x = \frac{\pi}{2}$, we have that $\Phi_{h,\theta,0,3}(\frac{\pi}{2}, y) = 0$ implies that

$$\tan \theta = -\frac{\cos(\alpha_0/2)\sin(\alpha_3 y/\pi)}{\sin(\alpha_3/2)\cos(\alpha_0 y/\pi)}.$$
(9.1)

Similarly, we have that $\frac{\partial \Phi_{h,\theta,0,3}}{\partial y}(\frac{\pi}{2},y) = 0$ implies that

$$\tan \theta = \frac{\alpha_3 \cos(\alpha_0/2) \cos(\alpha_3 y/\pi)}{\alpha_0 \sin(\alpha_3/2) \cos(\alpha_0 y/\pi)}.$$
(9.2)



(a) $\theta = 0$ (blue), $\theta = \theta(0.01)$ (orange).



(b) $\theta = \frac{1}{2}(\theta(0.01) + \frac{\pi}{4})$ (purple), $\theta = \frac{\pi}{4}$ (magenta).

Figure 3: The Robin eigenfunction $\Phi_{h,\theta,0,3}$ for h = 0.01 and various values of θ . We note that $\theta(0.01)$ is given by Equation (9.4) with h = 0.01.

By equating (9.1) and (9.2), we obtain

$$\alpha_0 \tan\left(\frac{\alpha_0 y}{\pi}\right) = \alpha_3 \cot\left(\frac{\alpha_3 y}{\pi}\right). \tag{9.3}$$

Let y_c denote a solution of (9.3) and set

$$\theta(h) = \arctan\left(-\frac{\cos(\alpha_0/2)\sin(\alpha_3 y_c/\pi)}{\sin(\alpha_3/2)\cos(\alpha_0 y_c/\pi)}\right).$$
(9.4)

Then for $\theta = \theta(h)$, $(\frac{\pi}{2}, y_c)$ is a boundary critical point of $\Phi_{h,\theta,0,3}(x, y)$.

For h=0.01, we compute numerically that $y_c \approx 0.5236$. Below we plot $\Phi_{h,\theta,0,3}$ for h = 0.01 and various values of θ in order to show the changes in the structure of the nodal domains.

From Figure 3 and the above analysis, we see that $\Phi_{h,\theta,0,3}$ has

- 0 interior critical points, 6 boundary critical points and 4 nodal domains for $\theta \in [0, \theta(0.01))$,
- 0 interior critical points, 4 boundary critical points for $\theta = \theta(0.01)$, and 4 nodal domains,
- 0 interior critical points, 2 boundary critical points for $\theta \in (\theta(0.01), \frac{\pi}{4})$, and 2 nodal domains,
- 2 interior critical points, 2 boundary critical points for $\theta = \frac{\pi}{4}$, and 4 nodal domains.

10 The case (p,q) = (0,2)

The difficulty is that for h = 0, we are in the Courant-sharp situation. We will show that the number of nodal domains decreases as h > 0 (small) increases (the labelling of the eigenvalue is constant in this case).

We want to analyse the zero set of

$$\Phi_{h,\theta,0,2}(x,y) := \cos\theta \cos(\alpha_0(h)x/\pi) \cos(\alpha_2(h)y/\pi) + \sin\theta \cos(\alpha_2(h)x/\pi) \cos(\alpha_0(h)y/\pi) .$$

We recall that the analysis for h large was obtained in [5], but we are interested here with the case where h is small. We note that for h = 0 this reads

$$\Phi_{0,2}(x, y, \theta, 0) := \cos \theta \cos(2y) + \sin \theta \cos(2x) \,.$$

For this case, the only values of θ for which there are critical points are $\theta = \frac{\pi}{4}$ and $\frac{3\pi}{4}$. For $\theta = \frac{\pi}{4}$, the critical points are only on the boundary at the middle of each side, that is $(\pm \frac{\pi}{2}, 0), (0, \pm \frac{\pi}{2})$. For $\theta = \frac{3\pi}{4}$, there is one interior critical point at (0, 0) and four boundary critical points at the corners $(\pm \frac{\pi}{2}, \frac{\pi}{2}), (\pm \frac{\pi}{2}, -\frac{\pi}{2})$. In all these cases, we are in a Morse situation.

To analyse the situation for h small on the boundary $x = -\frac{\pi}{2}$, we observe that we are still dealing with a Morse function $\Phi_{h,\theta,0,2}$ for (θ, h) close to $(\frac{\pi}{4}, 0)$, which admits a critical point $z_{h,\theta}$ close to $z_0 = (-\frac{\pi}{2}, 0)$. Hence we still have to consider the Morse picture and the corresponding zero-set.

Analysis at the boundary for θ close to $\frac{\pi}{4}$ and $h \ge 0$ close to 0 Here we can analyse the situation at the boundary $x = -\frac{\pi}{2}$ and compare it with the situation on $y = -\frac{\pi}{2}$. We can also deduce from (2.5) that

$$\Phi_{0,2}\left(-\frac{\pi}{2}, y, \theta, h\right) = \Phi_{0,2}\left(y, -\frac{\pi}{2}, \frac{\pi}{2} - \theta, h\right) \,.$$

Note that the understanding of what is going on for $\theta < \frac{\pi}{4}$ on the first side gives the information of what is going on for $\theta > \frac{\pi}{4}$ on the next side. In addition $\Phi_{0,2}$ is symmetric with respect to the two axes. Hence, we can then use these symmetries to understand the complete picture near the sides.

For $h \ge 0$, we analyse the zeros of the restriction to $x = -\frac{\pi}{2}$ of the eigenfunction which is given by

$$y \mapsto \psi(y, \theta, h) := \Phi_{h, \theta, 0, 2}(-\pi/2, y).$$

The case h = 0For h = 0, this gives

$$\psi(y,\theta,0) = \cos\theta\cos(2y) - \sin\theta = 0,$$

which takes the form

$$\cos(2y) = \tan\theta. \tag{10.1}$$

Note for later that

$$\partial_{\theta}\psi(0,\pi/4,0) = -\sqrt{2}.$$
 (10.2)

When θ increases from 0 to $\frac{\pi}{4}$, we get immediately from (10.1) that there is a unique $y(\theta)$ decreasing from $y = \frac{\pi}{4}$ to 0 such that the zero set consists of $\pm y(\theta)$. For $\theta = \frac{\pi}{4}$, $y(\frac{\pi}{4})$ is a non-degenerate critical point of $y \mapsto \psi(y, \frac{\pi}{4}, 0)$. For $\theta > \frac{\pi}{4}$, the eigenfunction has no zero on $x = -\frac{\pi}{2}$.

Application to the global nodal structure (h = 0)

Using the above symmetries $(x, y, \theta) \mapsto (y, x, \frac{\pi}{2} - \theta), (x, y) \mapsto (x, -y)$ and $(x, y) \mapsto (-x, y)$ and the fact that there are no critical points inside the square for $\theta \leq \frac{\pi}{2}$, we obtain that we start from 3 nodal domains for $\theta < \frac{\pi}{4}$, then get 5 nodal domains at $\theta = \frac{\pi}{4}$ before obtaining 3 nodal domains for $\theta > \frac{\pi}{4}$. See Figure 4. Hence we recall that we are in the Courant-sharp situation for $\theta = \frac{\pi}{4}$.



Figure 4: The fifth eigenfunction when h = 0 for $\theta = 0$ (blue), $\theta = \frac{\pi}{4}$ (magenta), $\theta = \frac{\pi}{2}$ (red) and $\theta = \frac{3\pi}{4}$ (navy).

The case $h \ge 0$

For $\theta = \frac{\pi}{4}$ and h = 0, y = 0 is a non-degenerate critical point of the Morse function $y \mapsto \psi(y, \frac{\pi}{4}, 0)$. On the other hand y = 0 is always a critical point of $y \mapsto \psi(y, \theta, h)$. By the general properties of Morse functions depending on parameters, y = 0 is locally the unique critical point for (θ, h) close to $(\frac{\pi}{4}, 0)$ and is also non-degenerate.

The determination of the zeros is related to the sign of $\psi(0, \theta, h)$: two solutions $\pm y(\theta, h)$ if $\psi(0, \theta, h) > 0$, of course one double solution y = 0 if $\psi(0, \theta, h) = 0$ and no solution if $\psi(0, \theta, h) < 0$.

For y = 0 and $x = -\frac{\pi}{2}$, we get

$$\psi(0,\theta,h) := \cos\theta \cos(\alpha_0(h)/2) + \sin\theta \cos(\alpha_2(h)/2) + \sin\theta \sin(\alpha_2(h)/2) + \sin(\alpha_2(h)/2) + \sin(\alpha_2(h)/2) + \sin(\alpha_2(h)/2) + \sin(\alpha_2(h)/2) + \sin(\alpha_$$

Hence (in the neighbourhood of $(\frac{\pi}{4}, 0)$), due to the negativity of $\partial_{\theta} \psi$ (see (10.2)), there is a unique $\theta(h)$ such that $\psi(0, \theta(h), h) = 0$ and corresponding to a change

of sign of $\theta \mapsto \psi(0, \theta, h)$. It remains to compute $\theta(h)$ for $h \ge 0$ small.

$$\psi(0,\theta,h) = 0$$
 if and only if $\tan \theta = -\cos(\alpha_0(h)/2)/\cos(\alpha_2(h)/2)$.

We expand the right-hand side and, using the expansions (deduced from (2.1))

$$\alpha_0(h) \sim \sqrt{2\pi h}, \, \alpha_2(h) - 2\pi \sim h,$$

we obtain

$$\tan \theta = 1 - \frac{\pi h}{4} + \mathcal{O}(h^2) \,,$$

 \mathbf{SO}

$$\theta(h) - \frac{\pi}{4} \sim -\frac{\pi h}{8},$$

and in particular $\theta(h) < \frac{\pi}{4}$ for h > 0. Hence, we get that for $\theta < \theta(h)$, there are two zeros on the left side $x = -\frac{\pi}{2}$ of the square (and consequently the same on the opposite side $x = \frac{\pi}{2}$), one double zero for $\theta = \theta(h)$ and no zero for $\theta > \theta(h)$. Using the symmetry argument, we also get that on the two other sides there are no zeros for $\theta < \frac{\pi}{2} - \theta(h) = \frac{\pi}{4} + \frac{\pi h}{8} + \mathcal{O}(h^2)$, a double zero for $\theta = \frac{\pi}{2} - \theta(h)$ and two zeros for $\theta > \frac{\pi}{2} - \theta(h)$.

As soon as h > 0 is small enough, we have that

$$\theta(h) < \frac{\pi}{2} - \theta(h)$$

Assuming that there are no critical points inside the square, we obtain by topological considerations that the number of nodal domains is 3 for $0 < \theta \leq \theta(h)$, 2 for $\theta(h) < \theta < \frac{\pi}{2} - \theta(h)$ and again 3 for $\frac{\pi}{2} - \theta(h) \leq \theta < \frac{\pi}{2}$. In particular, observing that the labelling of the eigenvalue is five, we cannot be in the Courant-sharp situation for h > 0 (h small enough).

Analysis at the corner for θ close to $\frac{3\pi}{4}$ It remains to analyse the situation for θ close to $\frac{3\pi}{4}$ and $h \ge 0$. We note that the critical point (0,0) is stable and independent of h and θ and the corresponding critical value is $\cos \theta + \sin \theta$. Hence it only appears for $\theta = \frac{3\pi}{4}$.

Considering the corners, say for example the corner $\left(-\frac{\pi}{2}, \frac{\pi}{2}\right)$, we again observe that, for any $h \geq 0$, this is a critical point for $\theta = \frac{3\pi}{4}$. As we have seen, there are no other values of θ close to $\frac{3\pi}{4}$ such that we have a zero critical point. It is not difficult to show that $\Phi_{h,\theta,0,2}(x,y)$ satisfies the conditions (7.6) for $z_0 = \left(-\frac{\pi}{2}, \frac{\pi}{2}\right)$ and $\theta = \frac{3\pi}{4}$. Hence Proposition 7.2 applies and in a neighbourhood of the corner, there are exactly 2 nodal domains.

So the number of nodal domains for $\frac{\pi}{2} < \theta < \pi$ is 3 or 4. In particular we have proved:

Proposition 10.1. There exists $h_0 > 0$ such that for $h \in (0, h_0)$ the eigenvalue $\lambda_{5,h}$ is not Courant-sharp. In particular, there are three critical values $\theta_j^*(h) \in [0, \pi)$ (j = 1, 2, 3) such that

$$\theta_1^*(h) = \arctan\left(-\frac{\cos(\alpha_0/2)}{\cos(\alpha_2/2)}\right), \ \theta_2^*(h) = \frac{\pi}{2} - \theta_1^*(h), \ \theta_3^* = \frac{3\pi}{4},$$

and such that $\Phi_{h,\theta,0,2}$ has:



(a) $\theta = 0$ (blue), $\theta = \theta_1^*(0.01)$ (magenta), $\theta = \frac{\pi}{4}$ (red).



(b) $\theta = \theta_2^*(0.01)$ (orange), $\theta = \frac{\pi}{2}$ (lime), $\theta = \frac{3\pi}{4}$ (navy).

Figure 5: The Robin eigenfunction $\Phi_{h,\theta,0,2}$ for h = 0.01 and various values of θ .

- 3 nodal domains for $\theta \in [0, \theta_1^*(h)]$;
- 2 nodal domains for $\theta \in (\theta_1^*(h), \theta_2^*(h))$;
- 3 nodal domains for $\theta \in [\theta_2^*(h), \theta_3^*)$;
- 4 nodal domains for $\theta = \theta_3^*$;
- 3 nodal domains for $\theta \in (\theta_3^*, \pi)$.

We remark the preceding result is the analogue of Proposition 6.1 of [5] for the case where h > 0 is large.

In Figure 5, for h = 0.01, we depict the transitions between the nodal partitions of $\Phi_{h,\theta,0,2}(x,y)$ for $(x,y) \in (-\frac{\pi}{2}, \frac{\pi}{2})^2$, as θ varies.

We observe that, by the preceding analysis, $\Phi_{h,\theta,0,2}$ has

- 0 interior critical points and 4 boundary critical points for $\theta \in [0, \theta_1^*(h))$,
- 0 interior critical points and 2 boundary critical points for $\theta = \theta_1^*(h)$,
- 0 interior critical points and 0 boundary critical points for $\theta \in (\theta_1^*(h), \theta_2^*(h))$,
- 0 interior critical points and 2 boundary critical points for $\theta = \theta_2^*(h)$,
- 0 interior critical points and 4 boundary critical points for $\theta \in (\theta_2^*(h), \theta_3^*)$,
- 1 interior critical point and 4 boundary critical points for $\theta = \theta_3^*$,
- 0 interior critical points and 4 boundary critical points for $\theta \in (\theta_3^*, \pi)$.

11 The case (p,q) = (7,9)

On $\hat{S} = (0, \pi)^2$, the Robin eigenfunction for $h \ge 0$ corresponding to (p, q) = (7, 9) is

$$\Phi_{7,9,\theta,h}(x,y) = \cos\theta \sin\left(\frac{\alpha_7(h)x}{\pi} - \frac{\alpha_7(h)}{2}\right) \sin\left(\frac{\alpha_9(h)y}{\pi} - \frac{\alpha_9(h)}{2}\right) + \sin\theta \sin\left(\frac{\alpha_9(h)x}{\pi} - \frac{\alpha_9(h)}{2}\right) \sin\left(\frac{\alpha_7(h)y}{\pi} - \frac{\alpha_7(h)}{2}\right).$$

We focus on the value of θ for which $\tan \theta = \frac{7}{9}$ as our preceding analysis does not apply in this case (see Remark 8.4).

By Sturm's theorem, on any boundary edge of \hat{S} , $\Phi_{7,9,\theta,h}$ has at least 7 zeros and at most 9 zeros. In particular, for h = 0, we see that on a given side, say $y = \pi$, there are 6 zeros where the nodal set meets the boundary $\partial \hat{S}$ transversally (see the central figure in Figure 6). Standard Morse theory applies in a neighbourhood of each of these zeros so each such critical point is isolated under a small perturbation of h.



Figure 6: The nodal set of the Neumann eigenfunction corresponding to (p,q) = (7,9) for $\theta = \frac{13\pi}{64}$ (red curve), $\theta = \arctan(\frac{7}{9})$ (blue curve) and $\theta = \frac{14\pi}{64}$ (green curve).

For the point $z_0 = (\frac{\pi}{2}, 0)$, we must analyse how the nodal set in the neighbourhood $B(z_0, \varepsilon_0)$ changes under a small perturbation of h. As we increase h > 0 (small), by Sturm's theorem, we either obtain:

- (i) 2 additional zero critical points on y = 0,
- (ii) 1 additional zero critical point on y = 0,
- (iii) no additional zero critical points on y = 0.

We observe that $x = \frac{\pi}{2}$ belongs to the nodal set for any θ and $y \in (0, \pi)$. We also see that $\Phi_{7,9,\theta,h}(\pi - x, y) = -\Phi_{7,9,\theta,h}(x, y)$. So if (x, y) belongs to the nodal set of $\Phi_{7,9,\theta,h}(x, y)$ then so does $(\pi - x, y)$. This eliminates possibility (ii). We introduce the following notation to facilitate our discussion.

Let $\hat{B}(z_0, \epsilon_0) = B(z_0, \epsilon_0) \cap \hat{S}$. Define $\partial_B \hat{B} := \partial \hat{B}(z_0, \epsilon_0) \cap \partial \hat{S}$, which is an interval, and $\partial_I \hat{B} := \partial \hat{B}(z_0, \epsilon_0) \setminus \partial_B \hat{B}(z_0, \epsilon_0)$, which is a semi-circle.

By Lemma 5.3 of [5], we can choose ε_0 small enough such that via a small perturbation of h, it is not possible to obtain a nodal domain $\omega \subset \hat{B}(z_0, \epsilon_0)$

such that $\partial \omega \cap \partial_B \hat{B}$ consists of at most finitely many points. We are not able to exclude the possibility that via a small perturbation of h, a nodal domain ω is obtained such that $\partial \omega \cap \partial_B \hat{B}$ is a non-trivial interval. This is because we start from the Neumann case h = 0 for which Lemma 5.3 of [5] does not apply.

By the local structure of a Neumann eigenfunction, when h = 0 there are 3 distinct nodal lines emanating from z_0 and intersecting $\partial_I \hat{B}$ in 3 distinct points. This gives rise to 4 nodal domains. After a small perturbation of h, there are still 3 points that belong to the intersection of the nodal set with $\partial_I \hat{B}$.

Let N denote the nodal set. If $N \cap \partial_I \hat{B}$ contains 3 points and $N \cap \partial_B \hat{B}$ contains 3 points, then $\hat{B}(z_0, \varepsilon_0)$ contains at most 6 nodal domains. In this case, there are at most two nodal domains whose boundaries intersect $\partial_B \hat{B}$ on a non-trivial interval and do not intersect $\partial_I \hat{B}$.

If $N \cap \partial_I \hat{B}$ contains 3 points and $N \cap \partial_B \hat{B}$ contains 1 point, then $\hat{B}(z_0, \varepsilon_0)$ contains at most 4 nodal domains (there are no other possibilities in this case since ϵ_0 was chosen small enough above so that Lemma 5.3 of [5] applies).

Hence, after a small perturbation of h, we gain at most two additional nodal domains in $\hat{B}(z_0, \varepsilon_0)$. Taking into account that we have two such boundary critical points, the maximum number of additional nodal domains that we gain under a small perturbation of h is 4.

For h = 0, $\Phi_{7,9,\theta,0}$ has 32 nodal domains. So for h small, $\Phi_{7,9,\theta,h}$ has at most 36 nodal domains. But the pair (7,9) corresponds to $\lambda_{116,h}$, so $\lambda_{116,h}$ is not Courant-sharp for h sufficiently small.

In Figure 7 we plot the nodal set of $\Phi_{7,9,\theta,h}(x, y)$ for (x, y) in a neighbourhood of $(\frac{\pi}{2}, 0)$, h = 0.1 and $\theta = \frac{13\pi}{64}$, $\arctan(\frac{7}{9})$, $\frac{14\pi}{64}$ respectively. We see that for h = 0.1, the number of nodal domains in $\hat{B}(z_0, \varepsilon_0)$ is at most 4 as θ close to $\arctan(\frac{7}{9})$ varies.



Figure 7: The nodal set of the Robin eigenfunction corresponding to (p,q) = (7,9) with h = 0.1 for $\theta = \frac{13\pi}{64}$ (red curve), $\theta = \arctan(\frac{7}{9})$ (blue curve) and $\theta = \frac{14\pi}{64}$ (green curve). We are interested in the behaviour near the zero critical point $(\frac{\pi}{2}, 0)$.

In Figure 8, we focus on the case $\theta = \arctan(\frac{7}{9})$. We see that for h = 0, $(\frac{\pi}{2}, 0)$ is a triple point, whereas for h = 0.1 we no longer have a triple point.



Figure 8: The nodal set of the Neumann eigenfunction (left), and the Robin eigenfunction with h = 0.1 (right) corresponding to (p,q) = (7,9) and $\theta = \arctan(\frac{7}{9})$.

Neuman	n				Neumann			
m	n	$m^2 + n^2$	k	1	m	n	$m^2 + n^2$	k
0	0	0	1	1	7	1	50	46,47,48
1	0	1	2,3		5	5	50	$46,\!47,\!48$
0	1	1	2,3		1	7	50	$46,\!47,\!48$
1	1	2	4		6	4	52	$49,\!50$
2	0	4	5,6		4	6	52	49,50
0	2	4	5,6		7	2	53	$51,\!52$
2	1	5	7,8		2	7	53	$51,\!52$
1	2	5	7,8		7	3	58	$53,\!54$
2	2	8	9		3	7	58	$53,\!54$
3	0	9	$10,\!11$		6	5	61	$55,\!56$
0	3	9	$10,\!11$		5	6	61	$55,\!56$
3	1	10	$12,\!13$		8	0	64	$57,\!58$
1	3	10	$12,\!13$		0	8	64	$57,\!58$
3	2	13	$14,\!15$		8	1	65	$59,\!60,\!61,\!62$
2	3	13	$14,\!15$		1	8	65	$59,\!60,\!61,\!62$
4	0	16	$16,\!17$		7	4	65	$59,\!60,\!61,\!62$
0	4	16	$16,\!17$		4	7	65	$59,\!60,\!61,\!62$
4	1	17	$18,\!19$		8	2	68	$63,\!64$
1	4	17	$18,\!19$		2	8	68	$63,\!64$
3	3	18	20		6	6	72	65
4	2	20	$21,\!22$		8	3	73	$66,\!67$
2	4	20	$21,\!22$		3	8	73	$66,\!67$
5	0	25	$23,\!24,\!25,\!26$		7	5	74	$68,\!69$
0	5	25	$23,\!24,\!25,\!26$		5	7	74	$68,\!69$
4	3	25	$23,\!24,\!25,\!26$		8	4	80	70,71
3	4	25	$23,\!24,\!25,\!26$		4	8	80	70,71
5	1	26	$27,\!28$		9	0	81	72,73
1	5	26	$27,\!28$		0	9	81	72,73
5	2	29	29,30		9	1	82	74,75
2	5	29	29,30		1	9	82	74,75
4	4	32	31		9	2	85	76,77,78,79
5	3	34	32,33		2	9	85	76,77,78,79
3	5	34	$32,\!33$		7	6	85	76,77,78,79
6	0	36	$34,\!35$		6	7	85	76,77,78,79
0	6	36	$34,\!35$		8	5	89	$80,\!81$
6	1	37	$36,\!37$		5	8	89	$80,\!81$
1	6	37	$36,\!37$		9	3	90	$82,\!83$
6	2	40	$38,\!39$		3	9	90	$82,\!83$
2	6	40	$38,\!39$		9	4	97	$84,\!85$
5	4	41	40,41		4	9	97	$84,\!85$
4	5	41	40,41		7	7	98	86
6	3	45	42,43		10	0	100	87,88,89,90
3	6	45	42,43		0	10	100	87,88,89,90
7	0	49	44,45		8	6	100	87,88,89,90
0	7	49	$44,\!45$		6	8	100	87,88,89,90

A First Neumann eigenvalues of a square

Neumann			
m	n	$m^2 + n^2$	k
10	1	101	91,92
1	10	101	$91,\!92$
10	2	104	$93,\!94$
2	10	104	$93,\!94$
9	5	106	$95,\!96$
5	9	106	$95,\!96$
10	3	109	$97,\!98$
3	10	109	$97,\!98$
8	7	113	99,100
7	8	113	99,100
10	4	116	101,102
4	10	116	101,102
9	6	117	$103,\!104$
6	9	117	$103,\!104$
11	0	121	$105,\!106$
0	11	121	$105,\!106$
11	1	122	$107,\!108$
1	11	122	$107,\!108$
11	2	125	109 - 112
2	11	125	109 - 112
10	5	125	109 - 112
5	10	125	109 - 112
8	8	128	113
11	3	130	114 - 117
3	11	130	114 - 117
9	7	130	114 - 117
7	9	130	114 - 117
10	6	136	$118,\!119$
6	10	136	$118,\!119$
11	4	137	$120,\!121$
4	11	137	$120,\!121$
12	0	144	$122,\!123$
0	12	144	$122,\!123$
12	1	145	124 - 127
9	8	145	124 - 127
8	9	145	124 - 127
1	12	145	124 - 127
11	5	146	$128,\!129$
5	11	146	$128,\!129$

References

- P. Bérard, B. Helffer. Dirichlet eigenfunctions of the square membrane: Courant's property, and A. Stern's and A. Pleijel's analyses. In: A. Baklouti, A. El Kacimi, S. Kallel, N. Mir (eds). Analysis and Geometry. Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics, 127, Springer, Cham (2015).
- [2] P. Bérard, B. Helffer. Sturm's theorem on zeros of linear combinations of eigenfunctions. arXiv:1706.08247 [math.SP]. To appear in Exp. Math. (2018).
- [3] R. Courant and D. Hilbert. Methods of Mathematical Physics, Vol. 1. New York (1953).
- [4] P. Freitas, D. Krejčiřík. The first Robin eigenvalue with negative boundary parameter. Advances in Mathematics 280 (2015), 322–339.
- [5] K. Gittins, B. Helffer. Courant-sharp Robin eigenvalues for the square and other planar domains. arXiv:1812.09344 [math.SP], 8 February 2019.
- [6] B. Helffer, M. Persson Sundqvist. Nodal domains in the square—the Neumann case. Mosc. Math. J. 15 (2015), 455–495.
- [7] J. Leydold. Knotenlinien und Knotengebiete von Eigenfunktionen. Diplom Arbeit, Universität Wien (1989), unpublished. Available at http://othes.univie.ac.at/34443/.
- [8] Å. Pleijel. Remarks on Courant's nodal line theorem. Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 9 (1956), 543–550.
- [9] C. Sturm. Mémoire sur une classe d'équations à différences partielles. Journal de Mathématiques Pures et Appliquées 1 (1836), 373–444.